

DISSERTATION

Titel der Dissertation

Molecular interactions of human skin and

pathogenic microorganisms

angestrebter akademischer Grad

Doktor der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

Verfasser: Matrikel-Nummer: Dissertationsgebiet: Betreuer: Wien, am 19. Jänner 2009 Mag. Arby Abtin 0348810 Genetik-Mikrobiologie Univ.-Prof. Dr. Erwin Tschachler, Univ.-Prof. Dr. Werner Lubitz Durchgeführt an der Medizinischen Universität Wien, Universitätsklinik für Dermatologie, Forchungseinheit für Biologie und Pathobiologie der Haut unter der Leitung von Univ. Prof. Dr. Erwin Tschachler.

Danksagung

Hiermit möchte ich mich ganz herzlich bei Herrn Univ. Prof. Dr. Erwin Tschachler für die freundliche Aufnahme in seinem Labor, Bereitstellung des Themas, die hervorragende Betreuung und die stetige Diskussionsbereitschaft bedanken.

Herrn Univ. Prof. Dr. Werner Lubitz danke ich für sein Interesse und für die Bereitschaft die Betreuung der Dissertation zu übernehmen.

Besonderer Dank geht an Herrn DDr. Leopold Eckhart für die Einführung in das wissenschaftliche Denken und Arbeiten und für die vielen Stunden wertvoller kritischer Diskussion.

Weiteres möchte ich besonders meinem Freund und Kollegen Michael Mildner danken, der speziell seit Beginn meiner Dissertation stets mit Rat und Tat zur Seite stand.

Für den Spaß bei der Laborarbeit, die entspannte Atmosphäre, moralische Unterstützung, die vielen Tipps und Hilfeleistungen möchte ich mich ganz herzlich bei all den Freunden und Kollegen vom Labor bedanken. Vielen Dank an Claudia Ballaun, Caterina Barresi, Maria Buchberger, Susanne Drexler, Heinz Fischer, Daniela Gärtner, Minoo Ghannadan, Ramona Gmeiner, Petra Gross, Florian Gruber, Karin Jäger, Jiang Jin, Barbara Lengauer, Veronika Mlitz, Ella Motuk, Christopher Nava, Johannes Pammer, Christine Poitschek, Christina Reinisch, Heidi Rossiter, Martin Stichenwirth, Awaz Uthman und Aumaid Uthman.

Abschließend möchte ich mich von ganzem Herzen bei meiner Familie bedanken. Diese Arbeit widme ich meinem Vater und meiner geliebten verstorbenen Mutter.

Abstract

Antimicrobial peptides are a critical part of the innate immune system of the skin. Epidermal keratinocytes (KCs) express numerous such peptides which establish a protective barrier to invading microorganisms. The antimicrobial peptide S100A7c (psoriasin) is the most efficient killer of *Escherichia coli*, but the regulatory mechanism of S100A7c in KCs was unclear. We investigated the responsiveness of S100A7c expression to microbial components and found that flagellin, a ligand for Toll-like receptor (TLR) 5, strongly induced the expression of S100A7c whereas all other TLR ligands had no significant effect on S100A7c mRNA expression. Supernatant from wild-type *E. coli*, but not from a flagellin-deficient *E. coli* strain (Δ FliC), strongly induced S100A7c mRNA as well as protein expression, identifying flagellin as the principal S100A7c inducing component of *E. coli* supernatant. In line with this finding, small interference RNA-mediated knock-down of TLR5 expression suppressed the ability of KCs to up-regulate S100A7c mRNA and protein expression in response to flagellin or *E. coli* supernatant suggesting that this up-regulation is mediated via TLR5 signaling.

RNase 7, another antimicrobial peptide expressed by KCs, not only contributes to the surface ribonuclease activity of human skin but also participates to the cutaneous antimicrobial defense. RT-PCR screening revealed that in addition to RNase 7 epidermal KCs expressed RNases 1, 4 and 5 as well as RNase inhibitor (RI), an endogenous protein that blocks the ribonucleolytic activity of RNases. *In vitro* assays demonstrated that RI suppresses the ribonuclease activity of stratum corneum (SC) RNases as well as the antibacterial activity of RNase 7 and the *Candida*-cidal activity of RNase 5. RI is strongly expressed by the granular layers of the epidermis whereas it was not detectable in the SC. Co-incubation experiments with SC extracts led to degradation of RI protein which could be prevented by the serine protease inhibitor aprotinin. This finding suggests the existence

of a physiological mechanism of RI breakdown in the SC to facilitate skin surface ribonuclease and antimicrobial activity.

Taken together these data bring new insights into the regulatory mechanisms of skinderived antimicrobial peptides and demonstrates the importance of SC proteolysis activity for establishing appropriate RNase-dependent antimicrobial functions of the skin.

Contents

1. Introduction	8
1.1. The structure of human skin	8
1.2. Skin-derived antimicrobial peptides: establishing a defense-line against invading	J
microorganisms	9
1.2.1. Lysozyme	9
1.2.2. Dermcidin	10
1.2.3. Cathelicidin	11
1.2.4. Skin-derived ribonucleases (RNases)	12
1.2.5. Human defensins	14
1.2.6. S100A7c (psoriasin)	18
1.3. Chemotactic properties of skin-derived antimicrobial peptides	20
1.4. Antimicrobial peptides and diseases	21
1.5. Recognition of microbial components	23
1.5.1. TLRs in distinguished skin diseases and infections	26
2. Objectives and format of the dissertation	30
3. Chapter I: Flagellin is the principal inducer of the antimicrobial peptide S100	A7c
(psoriasin) in human epidermal keratinocytes exposed to Escherichia coli	31
4. Chapter II: Degradation by stratum corneum proteases prevents endogen	ous
RNase inhibitor from blocking antimicrobial activities of RNase 5 and RNase 7	41
5. Discussion	80
5.1. The role of flagellin in S100A7c expression by KCs	80
5.2. SC proteolytic activity in establishing RNase-dependent antimicrobial functions.	82
6. References	86
7. Appendix	97
7.1 Abstract in German (Kurzfassung)	97

7.2 Abbreviations	99
7.3 Curriculum vitae (CV)	101

1. Introduction

1.1. The structure of human skin

Skin is the outer covering of living organisms. It functions as a protective barrier against the external environment; as an important factor in temperature regulation; as a sensory organ; and as an organ of metabolism that has synthesizing, excretory, and absorptive functions. Human skin is composed of the *epidermis*, which is the outermost epithelial layer of the skin and serves as a direct barrier to the environment; the subjacent *dermis*, which harbors skin vessels, skin nerves and skin appendage; and the *subcutis* consisting mainly of fat cells (Bolognia J.L. et al., 2008).

The epidermis is a stratified epithelium which is formed of keratinocytes (KCs) through terminal differentiation, but also harbors other cell types *i.e.* melanocytes, Langerhans cells and Merkels cells (Bolognia J.L. et al., 2008). KCs originate from a stem-cell pool in the basal epidermal layer and undergo progressive terminal differentiation as they move outward, finally forming the stratum corneum (SC). On simple morphological grounds, the epidermis can be divided into four distinct layers: *stratum basale*, *stratum spinosum*, *stratum granulosum* and *SC* (Bolognia J.L. et al., 2008).

Beneath the epidermis, the vascularised dermis provides structural and nutritional support. The dermis is tightly connected to the epidermis by a basement membrane. It also harbors many nerve endings that provide the sense of touch and temperature. It contains the hair follicles, sweat glands, sebaceous glands, apocrine glands and blood vessels. The blood vessels in the dermis provide nutrition and removal of waste to its own cells as well as the stratum basale of the epidermis (Bolognia J.L. et al., 2008).

The subcutis lies below the dermis and serves mainly for fat storage and insulation. It attaches the skin to the underlying bone and muscle (Bolognia J.L. et al., 2008).

1.2. Skin-derived antimicrobial peptides: establishing a defense-line against invading microorganisms

In 1987, Michael Zasloff showed that frog skin protects itself against infections by the release of antimicrobial peptides called magainins (Zasloff, 1987), which exhibit a broad-spectrum of antimicrobial activity. These observations led other investigator to search for the presence of antimicrobial proteins also in human skin (Schröder and Harder, 2006).

Normal human skin is colonized by large numbers of microorganisms. Most of these microorganisms are commensals which live on the skin surface without causing disease. In addition to the normal skin flora, the skin is exposed to pathogenic microorganisms. However, these pathogens rarely survive long enough to produce clinical infection. Whereas the mechanical barrier function of normal skin plays an important role in the clearance of pathogens from the skin surface (Schröder and Harder, 2006), there is evidence from a number of studies that skin-produced antimicrobial proteins also play an important part in the elimination of such pathogens (Gläser et al., 2005; Harder et al., 1997; Harder and Schröder, 2002; Lee et al., 2008; Murakami et al., 2002; Schittek et al., 2001).

In the past 10 years a number of skin-derived antimicrobial peptides have been discovered in human skin as discussed below.

1.2.1. Lysozyme

Lysozyme was the first antimicrobial protein found in skin (Ogawa et al., 1971). It catalyses the hydrolysis of the peptidoglycan layer in the bacterial cell wall. The antimicrobial activity of lysozyme is mainly against Gram-positive bacteria, *e.g. Staphylococcus aureus*, but it is also active against Gram-negative bacteria, *e.g.*

Escherichia coli (Ellison, III and Giehl, 1991) or *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Cole et al., 2002), suggesting that it might control the growth of bacteria in healthy skin.

Immunoreactive analysis demonstrates that Iysozyme is mainly located in the cytoplasm of cells in the spinosum layers of the epidermis. All parts of the eccrine sweat glands as well as pilo-sebaceous follicle cells, hair bulb and follicle sheat cells were also positive for Iysozyme, but not the hair-shaft (Papini et al., 1982). Since immunoreactive Iysozyme is absent in the SC and skin washing fluid (Ogawa et al., 1971), its contribution to cutaneous host defense is still unclear.

1.2.2. Dermcidin

Dermcidin appears to be the principal sweat antimicrobial peptide (Schröder and Harder, 2006). It is expressed as a precursor which is then proteolytically cleaved to a 47-amino acid containing peptide resulting in dermcidin-1 (DCD-1). This peptide performs antimicrobial activity against *S. aureus*, *Enterococcus faecalis*, *E. coli* as well as *Candida albicans* at low micromolar concentration (1–10 μ g/ml). Therefore suggesting that dermcidin may play a role in the regulation of human skin microflora (Schittek et al., 2001). The antimicrobial activity of dermcidin is maintained at high salt concentrations and over a broad pH range, which are similar to the conditions in human sweat (Schittek et al., 2001).

Dermcidin is specifically and constitutively expressed in sweat glands, secreted into the sweat and transported to the epidermal surface (Schittek et al., 2001). Interestingly, dermcidin protein expression is not induced in human epidermal KCs under inflammatory skin conditions (Rieg et al., 2004). It has been shown that the amount of several DCDderived peptides in sweat of patients with atopic dermatitis is significantly reduced which could be a reason for pronounced colonization with *S. aureus* and recurrent bacterial skin infections in this patients (Rieg et al., 2005).

1.2.3. Cathelicidin

Human cathelicidin is produced as a preproprotein of 18 kDa (human cationic antimicrobial protein with a molecular size of 18 kDa; hCAP-18) which is proteoliticlly processed by the serine protease proteinase 3, yielding the C-terminal 37-amino acids containing the antimicrobial active LL-37 peptide (Sorensen et al., 2001). Apart from the C-terminal peptide LL-37, the cathelin domain of hCAP-18 is also antimicrobially active as demonstrated with recombinant cathelin (Zaiou et al., 2003). *In vitro*, LL-37 inhibits the growth of a variety of Gram-negative (*E. coli, P. aeruginosa, Salmonella typhimurium*) and Gram-positive bacteria (*Lysteria monocytogenes, S. aureus, Staphylococcus epidermidis* and vancomycin-resistant *Enterococci*) at micromolar concentrations. It is also active against several bacteria at high salt conditions (Turner et al., 1998).

Cathelicidin is expressed in circulating neutrophils and myeloid bone marrow cells, in epithelia of the skin, airways, mouth, tongue, esophagus, intestine, cervix, vagina, epididymis and in testis (Gallo et al., 1997; Gudmundsson et al., 1996; Malm et al., 2000; Zaiou and Gallo, 2002; Zanetti, 2005). Like dermcidin, the human cathelicidin is also expressed in eccrine glands and duct cells. Immunoreactive LL-37 is localized in both the eccrine secretory glands and ducts, where it is found to be diffusely located in the cytoplasm of the secretory gland, and also located in the ductal epithelium (Murakami et al., 2002). This observation and the antimicrobial activity of LL-37 against various bacteria indicate that LL-37 might also contribute to the antimicrobial activity of human sweat (Murakami et al., 2002).

The expression of cathelicidin in skin seems to be tightly regulated because it is only expressed in KCs of inflamed skin but not of healthy skin (Frohm et al., 1997). It was also demonstrated that cathelicidin expression was up-regulated after skin injury (Dorschner et al., 2001). In an *in vitro* model, the highest level of cathelicidin is attained at 48 hours after injury (Heilborn et al., 2003). It has been demonstrated that 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3),

induces the expression of cathelicidin in human KCs (Wang et al., 2004; Weber et al., 2005). This induction was also observed in monocytes and neutrophils (Wang et al., 2004). The mechanism for this up-regulation occurs via a consensus vitamin D response element (VDRE) in the promoter of cathelicidin which is bound by the vitamin D receptor (VDR) (Gombart et al., 2005). Interestingly, the murine homologue to human cathelicidin (cathelicidin-related antimicrobial peptide; CRAMP) is not induced by vitamin D because of the absence of VDRE in murine CRAMP promoter (Gombart et al., 2005).

The *in vivo* relevance of cathelicidin in cutaneous host defense has been demonstrated in a mouse model. Mice deficient in the expression of CRAMP were more susceptible to skin infections caused by group A Streptococcus (GAS) (Nizet et al., 2001). These mice were also susceptible to urinary tract infections caused by uropathogenic *E. coli* (Chromek et al., 2006).

1.2.4. Skin-derived ribonucleases (RNases)

The human RNase A superfamily consists of thirteen members which are encoded by unique genes located on chromosome 14q11.2. Eight genes (RNases 1 to 8) of this family encode for ribonucleolytically active proteins which are relatively small in size (~15 kDa) and to varying degrees catalytically active against standard RNA substrates (Dyer and Rosenberg, 2006). Apart from their ribonuclease activity, some members of this family have antimicrobial properties as well (Domachowske et al., 1998; Lehrer et al., 1989; Rudolph et al., 2006). RNase 2 has antiviral activity, especially against the respiratory syncytial virus (Domachowske et al., 1998). RNase 3 performs antibacterial activity against *S. aureus* and *E. coli* (Lehrer et al., 1989) and has also killing activity toward the helminth *Schistosoma mansoni* (Ackerman et al., 1985). RNase 5 is active against *C. albicans* and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (Hooper et al., 2003). RNase 7 and RNase 8 exhibit a broad

spectrum of antimicrobial activity against both Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria (Harder and Schröder, 2002; Rudolph et al., 2006). To date, among members of these family, only RNase 5 (this dissertation) and RNase 7 were detected in the SC (Harder and Schröder, 2002), which are discussed below.

RNase 7: Analysis of healthy human skin for the presence of endogenous antimicrobial proteins led to the discovery of a 14.5 kDa antimicrobial ribonuclease termed RNase 7 (Harder and Schröder, 2002). The capacity of RNase 7 to digest RNA identifies this molecule as a part of the RNase activities found on human skin, making it necessary to take special precautions when performing experiments with RNA (i.e. by wearing gloves) (Harder and Schröder, 2002). RNase 7 is present at 4–8 µg/g of dry weight healthy SC. In contrast, 10–25 µg/g could be recovered from psoriatic-scale material, suggesting that RNase 7 might be inducible (Harder and Schröder, 2002; Harder and Schröder, 2005b). RNase 7 exhibits a broad spectrum of antimicrobial activity against both Gramnegative and Gram-positive bacteria and the yeast C. albicans. For unknown reasons RNase 7 is extremely effective at killing a vancomycin-resistant strain of E. faecium already at 20 nM concentrations (Harder and Schröder, 2002). It was suggested that RNase 7 antimicrobial activity is due to binding to bacterial membrane which renders the membrane permeability and causes pore formation into the membrane of bacteria. Additional studies have revealed that antimicrobial and ribonuclease activities of RNase 7 are independent of each other. The antimicrobial activity of recombinant RNase 7 is still retained at 4°C (Huang et al., 2007). The pro-inflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL) -1β, interferon (IFN) -γ and to a lesser degree also tumour necrosis factor (TNF) -α induced RNase 7 messenger RNA (mRNA) expression in KCs. Primary KCs treated with heatkilled bacteria such as P. aeruginosa and to a lesser degree S. aureus, E. coli, and S. pyogenes also induced RNase 7 expression in KCs (Harder and Schröder, 2002).

RNase 5: RNase 5, also known as angiogenin, has been implicated in blood vessel formation (Fett et al., 1985). A recent study revealed antimicrobial function for RNase 5 toward *C. albicans* and *S. pneumoniae in vitro* (Hooper et al., 2003). RNase 5 is secreted by reconstructed human epidermis (Rendl et al., 2001), but its contribution to the innate immunity of the skin is unknown.

Ribonuclease inhibitor: Ribonucleas inhibitor (RI) is a leucin-rich repeat protein with the shape of a horseshoe (Kobe and Deisenhofer, 1993). It constitutes about 0.1% of the total protein in the cytosol of mammalian cells (Leland and Raines, 2001). RI binds with high affinity to several members of the RNase A superfamily (Iyer et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2007; Maeda et al., 2002; Papageorgiou et al., 1997; Shapiro et al., 1986; Shapiro and Vallee, 1987), thus inhibiting their enzymatic activity. Remarkably, RI binds to a series of RNases, *i.e.* RNases 1-6 which share low sequence identity (Papageorgiou et al., 1997). It is of particular importance for cells to protect themselves from exogenous RNases, since extracellular RNases which enter the cytosol and evade the binding of RI, catalyze cleavage of cellular RNA, eventually leading to cell death (Leland and Raines, 2001).

RI is strongly expressed by the granular layer of the epidermis (this dissertation); however, at the time of our investigation it was unclear whether RI has the potential to block the microbicidal activities of RNase 5 and RNase 7, which are both expressed by KCs and are present in the SC.

1.2.5. Human defensins

Defensins are cysteine-rich, cationic peptides with β -sheet structures that are stabilized by three intramolecular disulphide bonds between the cysteine residues (Ganz, 2003). Mammalian defensins are classified into three subfamilies, the α -, β - and θ - defensins, which differ in their distribution of and disulphide links (bonds) between the six

conserved cysteine residues. The disulphide linkages of cysteine residues in α -defensins are between Cys¹–Cys⁶, Cys²–Cys⁴ and Cys³–Cys⁵, whereas in β -defensins, the linkages are Cys¹–Cys⁵, Cys²–Cys⁴ and Cys³–Cys⁶. By contrast, θ -defensins have a circular structure with the cysteine residues linked as Cys¹–Cys⁶, Cys²–Cys⁵ and Cys³–Cys⁴ (Ganz, 2003).

Leukocytes and epithelial cells are the main sources of mammalian defensins. So far, six human α -defensins have been identified (Klotman and Chang, 2006). Although α -defensins are found in granulocytes, at mucosal surfaces and in various tissues (Agerberth et al., 2000; Cunliffe, 2003; Fellermann and Stange, 2001; Hein et al., 2002), but there is no evidence of their expression by KCs (Harder and Schröder, 2005b).

Twenty eight human β -defensins (hBDs) have been identified by gene-based searches, but only six hBDs (hBD-1, -2, -3, -4, -5 and -6) are expressed mainly by epithelial cells (Ganz, 2003; Yang et al., 2004). Whereas hBD-1 is constitutively expressed by epithelial cells, expression of hBD-2 and hBD-3 can be induced by viruses, bacteria, microbial products and pro-inflammatory cytokines (Schröder and Harder, 2006). The mechanism(s) by which microorganisms are killed and/or inactivated by defensins is not understood completely. However, it is generally believed that killing is a consequence of disruption of the microbial membrane. For example hDB-2 can aggregate to form 'channel-like' pores leading to disruption of membrane integrity and function, which ultimately causes the lysis of microorganisms (Hoover et al., 2000; Sahl et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2002). Below are listed the β -defensins expressed by human KCs.

HBD-1 is the first discovered human β -defensin. It was originally isolated from human blood filtrates as a novel peptide with significant sequence homology to bovine β -defensins (Bensch et al., 1995). Mature hBD-1 is a small, cationic peptide of 36 amino acids residues. In blood plasma and urine, several forms of hBD-1 have been isolated ranging in length from 36 to 47 amino acids residues (Valore et al., 1998). Recombinant and natural

hBD-1 forms exhibit salt-sensitive antimicrobial activity against various laboratory and clinical strains of *E. coli* at micromolar concentrations (0.3-10µM). Moreover it was reported that concentrations of 1-10µg/ml of a recombinant baculovirus-derived hBD-1 preparation killed *P. aeruginosa.* LD₅₀ (lethal dose that achieves a colony-forming units reduction of 50%) of *P. aeruginosa* was found to be 1µg/ml and 100ng/ml for hBD-1 and hBD-2, respectively (Singh et al., 1998). As yet, no studies have reported activity of hBD-1 against Gram-positive bacteria such as *S. aureus* (Harder and Schröder, 2005a). In contrast to hBD-2 and hBD-3, gene expression of hBD-1 in KCs is not markedly induced by pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-1β, TNF- α , TNF- γ or by bacteria like *P. aeruginosa* (Harder et al., 2004). Natural hBD-1 protein has not yet been isolated from human skin. However using in situ hybridization, hBD-1 mRNA expression was detected in the suprabasal KCs, sweat ducts of human skin (Fulton et al., 1997) and sebaceous glands (Ali et al., 2001).

HBD-2 is a small, cationic peptide of 43 amino acids which was originally isolated from lesional psoriatic scale extracts using an *E. coli* affinity column (Harder et al., 1997). Natural hBD-2 derived from psoriatic scale shows preferential antimicrobial activity against Gram-negative bacteria such as nonmucoid and mucoid strains of *P. aeruginosa* and *E. coli* (LD₉₀, 10 mg/ml), less activity against *C. albicans* (LD₉₀, 25 mg/ml) and only bacteriostatic activity against *S. aureus* at 100 mg/ml (Harder et al., 1997). Activity of hBD-2 depends on ion composition and is sensitive to the concentration of NaCl. The ability of hBD-2 to inhibit bacterial growth diminishes when salt concentration is increased from 20 to 150 mM (Bals et al., 1998; Tomita et al., 2000), suggesting that hBD-2 is unable to kill bacteria in serum or at skin surface covered with evaporated sweat (Schröder and Harder, 2006). Pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-1 α , IL-1 β and TNF- α or stimuli like heat-killed bacteria such as *P. aeruginosa* have proven to be the most effective inducer of hBD-2 in KCs (Harder et al., 1997; Huh et al., 2002; Sorensen et al., 2003).

In normal skin, hBD-2 immunoreactivity is located to the uppermost layers of the epidermis and SC thus providing a first-line defense against invading microbes (Ali et al., 2001). On a subcellular level, hBD-2 is stored in lamellar bodies of stimulated KCs of the spinous and granular layer of the epidermis, suggesting that hBD-2 is released with the lipidlike contents of lamellar bodies (Oren et al., 2003). In contrast to psoriatic skin, healthy skin extracts harbor only low amounts of hBD-2 peptide (Schröder and Harder, 1999). HBD-2 is also seen in the stratified epithelia of the oral cavity as well as in gingival cells (Dale and Krisanaprakornkit, 2001).

HBD-3 is a 5-kDa nonhemolytic and salt-insensitive antimicrobial peptide which has been originally isolated from human psoriatic scales and was cloned from KCs (Garcia et al., 2001a; Harder et al., 2001). In contrast to hBD-2, hBD-3 is a broad-spectrum antimicrobial peptide. It is active against a number of human pathogens, including methicillin-resistant strains of S. aureus (MRSA) and vancomycin-resistant E. faecium (VRE). Furthermore, when in vitro activities of hBD-3 alone or combined with lysozyme, metronidazole, amoxicillin and chlorhexidine were investigated against several oral bacteria, hBD-3 showed bactericidal activity against all of the bacterial species tested (Maisetta et al., 2003). Ultrastructural analyses of hBD-3-treated S. aureus have revealed signs of perforation of the peripheral cell wall, with explosion-like liberation of the plasma membrane within 30 min and bacteriolysis (Harder et al., 2001). The morphological effects resemble those seen when S. aureus is treated with penicillin (Schröder and Harder, 2006). When comparing the induction of hBD-2 and hBD-3 in KCs, IL-1^β was found to be the strongest inducer of hBD-2, whereas IFN-y, which does not induce hBD-2, is the most powerful hBD-3-inducing cytokine (Harder et al., 2004). HBD-3 is widely expressed in skin, placenta, tonsil, trachea, tongue, and other oral tissues (Dunsche et al., 2001; Garcia et al., 2001a; Harder et al., 2001).

HBD-4 was initially identified by screening the human genome database (Garcia et al., 2001b). The expression of hBD-4 in KCs was slightly up-regulated by contact of *P. aeruginosa* but was strongly induced by phorbol-myristate-acetate (PMA) (Harder et al., 2004). However, so far attempts have failed to isolate hBD-4 peptide from psoriatic scales as well as from healthy human skin-derived SC (Harder and Schröder, 2005a).

1.2.6. S100A7c (psoriasin)

S100 proteins comprise a multigene family of low molecular weight cationic proteins which are characterized by two calcium-binding EF-hand motifs (Donato, 2001). Some of these proteins are expressed within the epidermis and antimicrobial properties have been described for several members of this family (Buchau et al., 2007; Ganz and Lehrer, 1997; Gläser et al., 2005; Gottsch et al., 1999; Wolf et al., 2007).

The human S100A7 was first identified as a protein up-regulated in inflamed psoriatic skin (Madsen et al., 1991). Genomic analysis revealed five copies of *S100A7*-like genes (*S100A7a-S100A7e*) within the human genome, but only duplicates a-c were predicted to be coding (Kulski et al., 2003). The S100A7a and S100A7c share the highest amino acid sequence similarity (93%). The hypothetically translated S100A7b sequence has the least similarity, with only 50% of the amino acid sequences common to S100A7c. The S100A7d and S100A7e appear to be fragmented and therefore non-coding (Kulski et al., 2003). Among these five duplications only S100A7c was recovered from skin-washing fluids and extracts of SC (Schröder and Harder, 2006).

Biochemical analyses of *E. coli*-killing activity in extracts of a healthy person's SC identified S100A7c as a principal *E. coli*-cidal antimicrobial protein in healthy skin SC extracts. A detailed biochemical analysis of healthy SC-derived S100A7c, revealed S100A7c to be heterogeneous with the 11.366-Da form as the predominant S100A7c form

in these extracts. In skin, S100A7c is expressed focally and released from KCs. Apart from KCs, sebocytes, the lipid-secreting cells of sebaceous glands, also showed immunoreactive S100A7c indicating that S100A7c is possibly also secreted together with lipids. From skin washings using buffer or acetone (to extract skin lipoids), S100A7c could be recovered from both aqueous and acetone extracts, indicating that the highly hydrophobic S100A7c is also stored in the lipid layer of healthy skin (Gläser et al., 2005).

In vitro, S100A7c shows preferentially antimicrobial activity against *E. coli*, with a LD₉₀ near 0.5 μ M whereas there is bactericidal activity for *P. aeruginosa* and *S. aureus* at much higher concentrations (LD₉₀ >30 μ M), S100A7c is far less bactericidal for the commensal *S. epidermidis* (Gläser et al., 2005). Antimicrobial activity of S100A7c has been observed at increased concentrations of salt, neutral and acidic pH which is seen on surfaces of healthy skin and upon conditions, when sweat is evaporating (Gläser et al., 2005). Using a neutralizing monoclonal antibody *in vivo* and *in vitro* confirmed that S100A7c is the principal *E. coli*-bactericidal component of healthy skin. Moreover, pre-treatment of healthy skin with neutralizing S100A7c antibodies also resulted in an increase of commensals, suggesting that a permanent S100A7c 'film' at skin surfaces might also contribute to growth control of the commensal flora (Gläser et al., 2005).

Until now, the exact mechanism by which S100A7c kills *E. coli* is unknown. S100A7c is characterized by two calcium-binding EF-hand motifs and its antimicrobial activity against *E. coli* is sensitive towards treatment with Zn^{2+} but not Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , Fe^{2+} or Mn^{2+} . This suggests that sequestration of Zn^{2+} is the mechanism how S100A7c possibly kills *E. coli* (Gläser et al., 2005). Deprivation of Zn^{2+} ultimately affects Zn^{2+} dependent enzymes; Zn^{2+} as well as Cu^{2+} are essential transition metal ions for functional *E. coli* superoxide dismutase suggesting that these bacteria have a particular need to defend themselves against oxidative damage by endogenously generated reactive oxygen species (Benov et al., 1995; Benov et al., 1997).

1.3. Chemotactic properties of skin-derived antimicrobial peptides

The earliest clues that defensins might play a role in adaptive immunity were the observations that α -defensin-1 and α -defensin-2 are chemotactic for human monocytes and T cells (Chertov et al., 1996; Territo et al., 1989). In the case of hBD-1 and hBD-2, which attract memory T cells and immature dendritic cells, the chemoattractant activity might be due to defensin binding to the chemokine receptor CCR6, which is also shared by the C-C chemokine ligand 20 (CCL20) (Yang et al., 1999a). Thus, it appears that CCR6 functions as a receptor for both the chemokine CCL20 and β -defensins. Although the physiological importance of this interaction has not yet been shown, the high concentrations of hBD-2 in inflamed skin make it probable that this defensin could compete effectively with the natural CCL20, despite the higher affinity of the latter for CCR6 (Yang et al., 1999a). Recent structural analysis of CCL20 indicated marked similarities to hBD-2 in the putative receptor-binding region of CCL20. This might be of high relevance *in vivo*, because hBD-2 represents one of the major antimicrobial peptide in psoriatic lesions (Harder and Schröder, 2005b).

HBD-3 has been shown to be chemotactic for immature dendritic cells as well as monocytes, but since monocytes do not express CCR6, hBD-3 might use an additional chemotaxin receptor (Garcia et al., 2001a; Yang et al., 1999b). In addition, hBD-4 has been reported to attract monocytes by as yet unknown mechanism (Garcia et al., 2001b).

Despite the functional overlap and sharing of receptors, chemokines and defensins have no apparent homology at the amino acid level, and their evolutionary relationship is unclear at present (Hughes, 1999). On the basis of usage of chemokine receptors and the tertiary structural similarities between defensins and chemokines, the defensins were considered to be 'microchemokines' which act on cells of the adaptive immune system (Hoover et al., 2002; Oppenheim et al., 2003).

Sharing a receptor with chemotactic factors is not unique to β -defensins, because another major human antimicrobial peptide LL-37, also uses a chemotactic receptor, formyl peptide receptor-like 1 (FPRL1), to mediate its chemotactic and Ca²⁺-mobilizing activities (De et al., 2000). In contrast to β -defensins, LL-37 is chemotactic for neutrophils, monocytes and T cells in the micromolar range, but not for dendritic cells (Yang et al., 2001). Besides its direct antimicrobial and chemotactic function, LL-37 also has multiple roles as a mediator of inflammation, influencing diverse processes such as cell proliferation and migration, immune modulation, wound healing, angiogenesis and the release of cytokines and histamine (Bals and Wilson, 2003). By promoting reepithelialisation of human skin wounds, LL-37 could play a role in repair of damaged tissue (Heilborn et al., 2003).

S100A7c exhibits strong chemotactic activity on CD4⁺ T lymphocytes and neutrophils (Jinquan et al., 1996). A recent study defined RAGE (receptor for advanced glycation end products) as the S100A7c receptor (Wolf et al., 2008). Taken together the chemotactic capacities of antimicrobial peptides suggest that they play a role in recruiting T cells, immature dendritic cells and monocytes to sites of infection, thereby facilitating (as adjuvants) the initiation of adaptive antimicrobial immune response.

1.4. Antimicrobial peptides and diseases

The observation that antimicrobial peptides are expressed in the uppermost parts of the epidermis in skin suggests the existence of a 'protective chemical shield'. These antimicrobial peptides function as effector molecules in skin infections and inflammations. It is therefore interesting to speculate that a defect in this protective system may lead to recurrent local infections, which in turn may lead to inflammation (Ong et al., 2002; Schröder and Harder, 2006).

On the other hand, it is possible that overexpression of antimicrobial peptides in skin may lead to increased protection. This hypothesis is supported by a disease concomitance seen in patients with psoriasis, a non-infective inflammatory skin disease, which unexpectedly rarely suffer from infectious skin diseases (Henseler and Christophers, 1995). Biochemical analysis of psoriatic scale extracts revealed the presence of hBD-2, RNase 7 and S100A7c as principal antimicrobial peptides in these extracts (Schröder and Harder, 2006). Atopic dermatitis, is a chronic inflammatory skin disease associated with significant barrier disruption, T-helper type 2 mediated skin inflammation, and an impaired innate immune response. These characteristics increase the susceptibility of atopic dermatitis patients to recurrent skin infections. In contrast to psoriasis, patients with atopic dermatitis often suffer from skin infections with *S. aureus* and a decreased expression of hBD-2, hBD-3 and LL-37 has been observed in acute and chronic lesions of these patients (Ong et al., 2002). However a recent study demonstrated an increase of S100A7c protein in paitents with atopic dermatitis (Gläser et al., 2008).

The involvement of antimicrobial peptides is not only restricted to skin disorders. Cystic fibrosis (CF) is a common autosomal recessive genetic disease caused by mutations in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator (*CFTR*) gene. The *CFTR* gene encodes a regulated chloride channel that also functions as a regulator of other ion channels. The main cause of morbidity and mortality in CF is respiratory failure due to progressive destruction of the airways and lungs by recurrent infections and inflammation. These events indicate a local defect in epithelial host defense, as the infection almost always remains localized in the lung and does not spread elsewhere or affect non-respiratory epithelia. It is proposed that the local host defense impairment is, at least in these paitents, due to the inhibition of defensin activity by the abnormal ionic environment of airway fluid. CI⁻ concentrations of airway fluid is increased from 80 mM of healthy individuals to 170 mM in patients with CF, respectively (Smith et al., 1996). Indeed, activity of hBD-2

depends on ion composition and is sensitive to the concentration of NaCl. The ability of hBD-2 to inhibit bacterial growth diminishes when salt concentration is increased from 20 to 150 mM (Bals et al., 1998; Harder et al., 2000).

1.5. Recognition of microbial components

The innate immune system is the first line of the defense that protects hosts from invading microbial pathogens. It recognizes microorganisms by specific microbial components designated as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). These PAMPs, ranging from lipids, lipoproteins, proteins and nucleic acids are produced by microorganisms but not by the host. PAMPs are essential for the survival of the microorganism and therefore difficult for the microorganism to alter or to substitute. For instance, lipopolysaccaride (LPS) is a well defined PAMP of Gram-negative bacteria; Gram-positive bacteria, by contrast, produce lipoteichoic acid (LTA) and lipoproteins which are recognized as PAMPs. Peptidoglycan is a PAMP of the cell wall and is produced by Gram-positive as well as Gram-negative bacteria. Flagellin, another important PAMP, is the major protein constituent of bacterial flagella. Single- and double-stranded RNA (ssRNA, dsRNA) make up PAMPs of viruses and β -glucan is an important PAMP of fungi (lshii et al., 2008).

Host cells express various pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) which are able to sense diverse PAMPs (Akira and Hemmi, 2003). Recognition of PAMPs by PRRs activates intracellular signaling pathways that culminate in the induction of antimicrobial peptides, inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, interferons and up-regulation of costimulatory molecules (Ishii et al., 2008). Among the major PRRs are the Toll-like receptors (TLRs) which recognize pathogens at either the cell surface or lysosome/endosome membranes (Ishii et al., 2008) and the nucleotide-binding

oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) which recognize pathogens that have invaded the cytosol (Kanneganti et al., 2007).

TLRs: The discovery of the TLR family began with the identification of Toll receptor of drosophila and which was found to be essential for establishing dorsoventral polarity during embryogenesis in drosophila (Hashimoto et al., 1988). Subsequent studies revealed that Toll also has an essential role in the insect innate immune response against fungal infection (Lemaitre et al., 1996). After the discovery of Toll in drosophila, a number of structurally related proteins were identified in mammals and were thus named "Toll-like" receptors. To date, 11 human TLRs and 13 mouse TLRs have been identified, and each TLR appears to recognize distinct PAMPs derived from various microorganisms, including bacteria, viruses, protozoa and fungi (listed in Table 1) (Akira et al., 2006). The TLRs are type I integral membrane glycoproteins, and on the basis of considerable homology in the cytoplasmic region of the IL-1 receptor, known as the TIR domain, which is required for downstream signaling, they are members of a larger superfamily that includes the interleukin-1 receptors (IL-1Rs). By contrast, the extracellular region of the TLRs and IL-1Rs differs markedly; the extracellular region of TLRs contains leucine-rich repeat (LRR) motifs which are responsible for recognition of PAMPs, whereas the extracellular region of IL-1Rs contains three immunoglobulin-like domains. The LRR domains are composed of 19-25 tandem LRR motifs, each of which is 24-29 amino acids in length (Akira et al., 2006).

TLRs can be further divided into several subfamilies, each of which recognizes related PAMPs: the subfamily of TLR1, TLR2, and TLR6 recognizes lipids, whereas the highly related TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9 recognize nucleic acids (Akira and Takeda, 2004).

Microbial Components	Species	TLR Usage
Bacteria		
Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)	Gram-negative bacteria	TLR4
Diacyl lipopeptides	Mycoplasma	TLR6/TLR2
Triacyl lipopeptides	Bacteria and mycobacteria	TLR1/TLR2
Lipoteichoic acids (LTA)	Group B Streptococcus	TLR6/TLR2
Peptidoglycan (PG)	Gram-positive bacteria	TLR2
Lipoarabinomannan	Mycobacteria	TLR2
Flagellin	Flagellated bacteria	TLR5
CpG-DNA	Bacteria and mycobacteria	TLR9
not determined	Uropathogenic bacteria	TLR11
Fungus		
Zymosan	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	TLR6/TLR2
Phospholipomannan	Candida albicans	TLR2
Mannan	Candida albicans	TLR4
Glucuronoxylomannan	Cryptococcus neoformans	TLR2 and TLR4
Parasites		
Glycoinositolphospholipids	Trypanosoma	TLR4
Hemozoin	Plasmodium	TLR9
Profilin-like molecule	Toxoplasma gondii	TLR11
Viruses		
DNA	Viruses	TLR9
double stranded RNA	Viruses	TLR3
single stranded RNA	RNA viruses	TLR7 and TLR8

Table 1. TLR Recognition of Microbial Components

TLRs are expressed on various immune system cells, including macrophages, dendritic cells, B cells, specific types of T cells, but also in cells which are not part of the immune system such as fibroblasts and epithelial cells (Kadowaki et al., 2001; Köllisch et al., 2005; Lebre et al., 2007; Miller et al., 2005; Miller and Modlin, 2007). TLRs may be expressed extra- or intracellularly. TLRs 1, 2, 4, 5, and 6 are expressed on the cell surface, while TLRs 3, 7, 8, and 9 are found almost exclusively in intracellular compartments such as endosomes, and their ligands, mainly nucleic acids, require internalization to the endosome before signaling is possible. Some TLR may function as heterodimers. For example, TLR1 and TLR6 serve as co-receptors to TLR2, and TLR2/1

and TLR2/6 heterodimers recognize bacterial tri-acyl lipopeptides and di-acyl lipopeptides, respectively (Ishii et al., 2008).

In human KCs, functional expression of TLRs1, 2, 3, 5 and 9 has been demonstrated (Köllisch et al., 2005; Lebre et al., 2007; Miller et al., 2005), while expression of TLR4 was detected by some but not other authors (Baker et al., 2003; Kawai, 2003; Köllisch et al., 2005). In studies where KCs were derived form plastic surgery skin specimens functional TLR4 activity was detected (Buchau et al., 2007; Lebre et al., 2007; Pivarcsi et al., 2003) whereas in KCs derived from human foreskin specimens none such activity was seen (Köllisch et al., 2005; Mempel et al., 2003). It has been suggested that these controversial reports may be to different culture conditions or origin of KCs (Buchau et al., 2007).

NLRs: NLRs are a large family of cytoplasmic PRRs which are implicated in the recognition of bacterial components. Proteins of this family, like those of the TLR family, possess LRRs that mediates ligand sensing (Kanneganti et al., 2007). For instance, NOD1 and NOD2, members of the NLRs family, detect γ -D-glutamyl-meso-diaminopimelic acid (iE-DAP) and muramyl dipeptide (MDP), found on bacterial peptidoglycan, respectively. Lack of either NOD1 or NOD2 in macrophages abolished proinflammatory cytokine production in response to the corresponding ligands (Kobayashi et al., 2005). Expression of NOD2 was detected in primary KCs, and stimulation with MDP induced hBD-2 peptide release (Voss et al., 2006).

1.5.1. TLRs in distinguished skin diseases and infections

Psoriasis: Psoriasis is an inflammatory skin disease that is characterized clinically by cutaneous erythematous plaques covered with a silvery scale. Histologic evaluation of psoriatic plaques reveal a thickened epidermis, with KC hyperproliferation and an inflammatory infiltrate in the dermis comprised of T cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells

(Kupper and Fuhlbrigge, 2004). There are a number of reports that evaluated the expression of TLRs by KCs in psoriasis. One study demonstrated that TLR1 was expressed by KCs in normal skin and in psoriasis. They further demonstrated that there was an enhanced TLR1 expression in the basal layer of KCs in psoriatic plaques compared with normal skin (Curry et al., 2003). Another study demonstrated that KCs of psoriasis lesions had a higher expression of TLR2 and less expression of TLR5 than normal skin (Baker et al., 2003). A study by Miller *et al.* found that TLR5 and TLR9 expression in psoriasis lesion are higher compared to normal skin (Miller et al., 2005). The role and function of TLRs expression by KCs in psoriasis lesions is unknown, but superinfection of lesions of stable plaque psoriasis by bacteria occurs only rarely. This decreased susceptibility to infection may be because of increased levels of antimicrobial peptides such as β -defensins, cathelicidin and S100A7c in psoriatic skin (Harder and Schröder, 2005b).

Acne vulgaris: Acne vulgaris is an inflammatory skin disease that mainly occurs during adolescence and involves inflammation of the pilosebaceous unit. Although the pathogenesis of acne vulgaris is multifactorial, one of the factors that contribute to acne lesions is inflammation caused by the anaerobic bacterium *Propionibacterium acnes* (Miller and Modlin, 2007). It has been demonstrated that the activation of TLR2 by *P. acnes in vitro* induced IL-12 and IL-18 production by primary human monocytes (Kim et al., 2002). Another study demonstrated that all-trans retinoic acid, which is used as a topical treatment for acne, down-regulated the expression and activation of TLR2 on cultured monocytes (Liu et al., 2005). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that *P. acnes* induce hDB-2 and IL-8 in human KCs and this induction is inhibited by anti-TLR2 and anti-TLR4 neutralizing antibodies (Nagy et al., 2005). Taken together these studies indicate the importance of TLRs in the pathogenesis of acne vulgaris.

Atopic dermatitis: Atopic dermatitis is a chronic inflammatory skin disease associated with significant barrier disruption, T-helper type 2 mediated skin inflammation, and an impaired innate immune response. These characteristics increase the susceptibility of atopic dermatitis patients to recurrent skin infections (Ong et al., 2002). A study demonstrated that a polymorphism in TLR2 correlates with a severe phenotype of atopic dermatitis. This study suggests that lack of functional TLR2 may exacerbate atopic dermatitis (Ahmad-Nejad et al., 2004). Although, the activation of TLR2 in KCs induce the expression of hBD-2 (Kawai, 2003), but a direct role of TLR2 in the pathogenesis of atopic dermatitis is still unclear.

S. aureus skin infections: *S. aureus* is a Gram-positive extracellular bacterium that is responsible for the vast majority of skin and soft tissue infections in humans, including impetigo, folliculitis, and cellulitis. Several *in vitro* experiments have demonstrated that lipoteichoic acid of *S. aureus* activate immune cells via TLR2 (Schröder et al., 2003; Takeuchi et al., 1999). In addition, *in vivo* studies of TLR2-deficient mice have demonstrated that these mice are more susceptible to *S. aureus* skin infection and develop larger skin lesions than wild-type mice (Miller et al., 2006).These data provide evidence that TLR2 is important in host defense against *S. aureus* infections in the skin.

Candidiasis: Candidiasis is an infection caused by the yeast *C. albicans* which is a dimorphic fungal pathogen. Clinical infections include mucocutaneous infections as well as invasive and life-threatening infections usually seen in immunocompromised patients (Levitz, 1998). *In vitro* studies have shown that *C. albicans* -derived mannan induces in human monocytes the production of TNF- α in a TLR4-dependent manner (Tada et al., 2002). In an *in vitro* model it has been demonstrated that treatment of KCs with *C. albicans* and mannan resulted in the activation and nuclear translocation of NF- κ B. In addition, it was shown that *Candida*-killing activity of KCs was NF- κ B-dependent and that this activity could be inhibited by anti-TLR2 and anti-TLR4 neutralizing antibodies (Pivarcsi et al.,

2003). These studies may suggest an important role of TLRs in *C. albicans* skin infections. The clinical relevance of these *in vitro* studies are still unclear because no published report of *in vivo C. albicans* skin infections in context with TLR2 or TLR4 have been found (Miller and Modlin, 2007).

Herpes simplex virus: Herpes simplex virus (HSV) and Varicella-Zoster virus (VZV) are common viral pathogens that infect human skin. It has been demonstrated that VZV activates induced IL-6 cytokine response of human monocytes in a TLR2-dependent manner (Wang et al., 2005). HSV is recognized through both TLR2 and TLR9 in dendritic cells for the induction of IL-6 and IL-12 secretion (Sato et al., 2006). Thus, suggesting for TLR2 and TLR9 an important role in recognition and host defense against HSV and VZV infections in the skin

2. Objectives and format of the dissertation

Human skin is an effective barrier against invading microorganisms. This protective function is partly mediated by the presence of antimicrobial peptides. The overall objective of this dissertation was to identify molecular mechanisms by which antimicrobial peptides of human skin are regulated. The aim of the first part was to determine the mechanism by which *E. coli* induces the up-regulation of the antimicrobial peptide S100A7c, the principal *E. coli*–cidal factor present at the surface of human epidermis (Gläser et al., 2005). The objective of the second part was to investigate the potential role of RNase-RI interaction in human skin and its implication on the RNase-dependent antimicrobial defense system.

The following part of the dissertation is organized in two chapters:

Chapter I has been published in the "Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology". <u>Abtin, A.</u>, Eckhart, L., Mildner, M., Gruber, F., Schröder, J. M., Tschachler, E. (2008). **Flagellin is the principal inducer of the antimicrobial peptide S100A7c** (psoriasin) in human epidermal keratinocytes exposed to *Escherichia coli. FASEB J.* 22: 2168-2176

Chapter II has been accepted for publication in the "Journal of Investigative Dermatology". <u>Abtin, A.</u>, Eckhart, L., Mildner, M., Ghannadan, M., Harder, J., Schröder, J. M., Tschachler, E. (2009). **Degradation by stratum corneum proteases prevents endogenous RNase inhibitor from blocking antimicrobial activities of RNase 5 and RNase 7.**

Both chapters contain the following sections: Title, Abstract, Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, Discussion, Figures and References.

References cited in the Introduction, Objectives and Discussion are listed at the end of the dissertation.

3. Chapter I: Flagellin is the principal inducer of the antimicrobial peptide S100A7c (psoriasin) in human epidermal keratinocytes exposed to Escherichia coli.

FASEB J. 22: 2168-2176

Arby Abtin¹, Leopold Eckhart¹, Michael Mildner¹, Florian Gruber¹, Jens-Michael Schröder² and Erwin Tschachler^{1,3}.

¹Department of Dermatology, Medical University of Vienna, A-1090 Vienna, Austria; ²Department of Dermatology, University Hospital Schleswig-Holstein, University of Kiel, Kiel 24105, Germany; ³Centre de Recherches et d'Investigations Epidermiques et Sensorielles (CE. R. I. E. S.), Neuilly sur Seine, France

Flagellin is the principal inducer of the antimicrobial peptide S100A7c (psoriasin) in human epidermal keratinocytes exposed to *Escherichia coli*

Arby Abtin,* Leopold Eckhart,* Michael Mildner,* Florian Gruber,* Jens-Michael Schröder, † and Erwin Tschachler*, $^{\pm,1}$

*Department of Dermatology, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria; [†]Department of Dermatology, University Hospital Schleswig-Holstein, University of Kiel, Kiel, Germany; and [‡]Centre de Recherches et d'Investigations Epidermiques et Sensorielles, Neuilly sur Seine, France

Epidermal keratinocytes (KCs) express ABSTRACT antimicrobial peptides as a part of the innate immune response. It has recently been shown that the culture supernatant of Escherichia coli induces the expression of S100A7c (psoriasin) in KCs and that S100A7c efficiently kills E. coli. Here we have investigated which of the microbial components triggers the up-regulation of S100A7c expression. Exposure of human primary KCs to ligands of the human Toll-like receptors (TLRs) revealed that only the TLR5 ligand flagellin strongly induced the expression of S100A7c mRNA and protein, whereas all other TLR ligands had no significant effect. In contrast to the supernatant from flagellated wild-type (WT) E. coli, the supernatant of a flagellin-deficient E. *coli* strain (Δ FliC) did not induce S100A7c expression. Small interfering RNA-mediated knockdown of TLR5 expression suppressed the ability of KCs to up-regulate S100A7c expression in response to both flagellin and WT E. coli supernatant. Taken together, our data demonstrate that bacterial flagellin is essential and sufficient for the induction of S100A7c expression in KCs by E. coli.—Abtin, A., Eckhart, L., Mildner, M., Gruber, F., Schröder, J.-M., Tschachler, E. Flagellin is the principal inducer of the antimicrobial peptide S100A7c (psoriasin) in human epidermal keratinocytes exposed to Escherichia coli. FASEB J. 22, 2168-2176 (2008)

Key Words: innate immunity \cdot Toll-like receptor \cdot TLR \cdot pathogen-associated molecular pattern \cdot PAMP \cdot antimicrobial defense

HUMAN SKIN IS AN EFFECTIVE BARRIER against invading microorganisms. This protective function is partly mediated by the presence of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) in the skin (1, 2). Although known for a long time in other species (3, 4) and in other organ systems of humans (5, 6), the presence and importance of AMPs in human skin has only recently been demonstrated (1, 7). AMPs of the skin comprise a heterogeneous group of molecules, such as human β -defensin (hBD) -1, hBD-2, hBD-3, RNase 7, cathelicidin, and S100A7c (2). The antimicrobial activity described for AMPs is due to perforation and disruption of the bacterial membrane (*e.g.*, hBD-2, RNase 7, and cathelicidin) (8–10) by deprivation of essential trace elements (*e.g.*, S100A7c) (1) or by as yet unknown mechanisms (*e.g.*, hBD-1 and hBD-3) (2). Studies using mouse models with deficiencies in AMP genes have emphasized the importance of some of these peptides in the defense against invasive bacterial infections in epithelia of different organs (11–13). For example, mice deficient in the expression of CRAMP (the mouse homolog to the human cathelicidin) were more susceptible to skin infections caused by group A *Streptococcus* (12) and urinary tract infections by *Escherichia coli* (11).

One arm of the antimicrobial defense of the skin is provided by members of the multifunctional S100 protein family. S100 proteins have a molecular mass of 9-13 kDa and are characterized by two calcium-binding EF-hand motifs (14). Eleven proteins of the S100A family, i.e., S100A2, S100A3, S100A4, S100A6, S100A7c, S100A8, S100A9, S100A10, S100A11, S100A12, and S100A15, are expressed in the epidermis (15–17). S100A7c, S100A12, and S100A15 have Gram-negative bacteria-killing activities (1, 18, 19), and a heterodimer complex of S100A8/S100A9 suppresses the growth of the yeast Candida albicans (20). S100A7c has been identified as a protein that is up-regulated in lesional psoriatic skin; hence, it was initially named psoriasin (21). However, in the meantime it has been established that S100A7c is also expressed in normal skin (1, 21). S100A7c is encoded by a gene located on chromosome 1q21 within a cluster of five S100A7-like genes, S100A7a through S100A7e. S100A7a–S100A7c transcripts encode functional proteins whereas S100A7d and S100A7e are pseudogenes (22). S100A7c shows 93 and 50% amino acid sequence similarity compared with S100A7a and S100A7b, respectively (22). A recent report has provided evidence that the human S100A7 genes have arisen by repeated duplications of an ancient S100A7 gene whereas the mouse has lost the *S100A7* gene (23).

¹ Correspondence: Department of Dermatology, Medical University of Vienna, Waehringer Guertal 18–20, 1090 Vienna, Austria. E-mail: erwin.tschachler@meduniwien.ac.at doi: 10.1096/fj.07-104117

Of all the proteins of the S100A7 family only S100A7c is present at high concentrations in human stratum corneum (2). Gläser *et al.* (1) have shown that *E. coli* is effectively killed on human skin and that this killing activity was inhibited *in vivo* by a neutralizing antibody to S100A7c. Furthermore, this report demonstrated that S100A7c is up-regulated by exposing keratinocytes (KCs) to *E. coli* culture supernatants. Together, these data suggest that S100A7c has a critical role in the skin defense against *E. coli* and probably also against related bacteria.

The induction of antimicrobial molecules is a central mechanism of the innate immune defense. Components of different pathogens, *i.e.*, pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) are recognized by pattern recognition receptors, such as the Toll-like receptors (TLRs) (24), which are expressed on a wide variety of immune and nonimmune cells (25-29). To date, 10 members of the TLR family of genes have been identified in humans (30, 31). Each TLR recognizes distinct PAMPs derived from various microorganisms. For instance, TLR3 recognizes viral double-stranded RNA (32), TLR4 recognizes lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (33), and TLR5 recognizes bacterial flagellin (34). Engagement of TLRs by microbial components initiates signaling cascades that activate mitogen-activated protein kinases and induces nuclear translocation of NF-KB (35), which consequently leads to the production of proinflammatory cytokines (35) and the induction of AMPs (such as hBD-2) in various epithelial cells (28, 36–38). In human KCs, functional expression of TLR1, 2, 3, 5, and 9 has been demonstrated (26-28), whereas expression of TLR4 in KCs was detected by some but not other authors (27, 39, 40). TLR2 has been shown to mediate the activation of NF-KB gene expression in response to Staphylococcus aureus (41). The bacterial components by which E. coli induces the expression of S100A7c have not yet been identified.

Here we have investigated whether TLR ligands are able to up-regulate S100A7c expression in KCs and whether any of these ligands are involved in the induction of S100A7c by *E. coli* culture supernatants. The regulation of S100A7c was compared with that of the antimicrobial peptide hBD-2. Our results reveal that the induction by *E. coli* of both S100A7c and hBD-2 depends on the presence of bacterial flagellin and TLR5 on KCs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell culture

Human primary KCs prepared from neonatal foreskin were obtained from Clonetics (San Diego, CA, USA) and cultured in serum-free keratinocyte growth medium (KGM; Clonetics) as described previously (42). For stimulation, third passage KCs were cultured in 12-well tissue culture plates (Corning Incorporated, Corning, NY, USA) and used at a confluence of 60–70%. Stimulation was performed in keratinocyte basal medium (KBM; Clonetics).

Reagents used for treatment of KCs

For in vitro assays, recombinant interleukin-1a (IL-1a; R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA), IL-8 (R&D Systems), and the following TLR ligands (InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, USA) were used: synthetic tripalmitoylated lipopeptide (Pam3CSK4; TLR1/2 ligand), heat-killed Listeria monocytogenes (HKLM; TLR2 ligand), poly(I:C), a synthetic analog of double-stranded RNA (TLR3 ligand), ultrapure LPS from E. coli K12 (TLR4 ligand), purified flagellin from Salmonella typhimurium (TLR5 ligand), synthetic lipoprotein of Mycoplasma salivarium (FSL1; TLR6/2 ligand), imiquimod (R837; TLR7 ligand), single-stranded RNA40 (TLR8 ligand), and ODN2006 (CpG oligonucleotide type B; TLR9 ligand). For IL-1 α neutralizing experiments, KCs were used at a confluence of 60-70% in 12-well tissue culture plates. Before stimulation with IL-1 α and flagellin, cells were preincubated for 90 min with a polyclonal goat IgG IL-1a neutralizing antibody (2 µg/ml; R&D Systems) or a polyclonal goat IgG isotype control (2 µg/ml; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA). For blocking IL-1 receptors, cells were incubated for 90 min with 100 ng/ml IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra; Strathmann Biotec, Hamburg, Germany) before stimulation with flagellin or IL-1 α .

RNA isolation and quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

After stimulation, cells were washed with PBS, and RNA was isolated using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For cDNA synthesis RNA was reverse-transcribed with murine leukemia virusreverse transcriptase using the Gene Amp RNA PCR kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) and oligo(dT) primers (Roche Diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland). cDNA sequences of the genes under investigation were obtained from GenBank. Primers were designed using PRIMER3 software from the Whitehead Institute for Biomedical Research (Cambridge, MA, USA). The following forward (F) and reverse (R) intron-spanning primers were used-for β-2-microglobulin: F, 5'-GATGAGTATGC-CTGCCGTGTG-3'; R, 5'-CAATCCAAATGCGGCATCT-3'; for S100A7c: F, 5'-GGAGAACTTCCCCAACTTCCTT-3'; R, 5'-GGAGAAGACATTTTATTGTTCCT-3'; for S100A7a: F, 5'-AAATACACCGGACGTGATGG-3'; R, 5'-TCTTGTCCTT-TTTCTCAAAGACAGT-3'; for S100A7b: F, 5'-GATGAATATCC-CTCTAGGTGAGAAAGT-3'; R, 5'-GGTGCCACTCCATGCAT-TAT-3'; for hBD-2: F, 5'-ATCAGCCATGAGGGTCTTGT-3'; R, 5'-GAGACCACAGGTGCCATTTT-3'; for hBD-1: F, 5'-CCCAGTTCCTGAAATCCTGA-3'; R, 5'-CTTCTGGT-CACTCCCAGCTC-3'; for hBD-3: F, 5'-AGCTGTGGCTG-GAACCTTTA-3'; R, 5'-CGATCTGTTCCTCCTTTGGA-3'; for cathelicidin: F, 5'-GCTAACCTCTACCGCCTCCT-3'; R, 5'-GGTCACTGTCCCCATACACC-3'; for TLR5: F, 5'-CTAGAAGTCCCTTCTGCTAGGAC-3'; R, 5'-AAGGGG-AAGGATGAAGCAGT-3'; and for IL-8: F, 5'-CTCTTGGCA-GCCTTCCTGATT-3'; R, 5'-TATGCACTGACATCTAAGTT-CTTTAGCA-3'. Quantitative real-time PCR was performed by LightCycler technology using the Fast Start SYBR Green I Kit for amplification and detection (Roche Diagnostics) as described previously (43). Determination of relative quantification of target gene expression and amplification efficiencies was performed using a mathematical model by Pfaffl (44). The expression of the target gene was normalized to the expression of β -2-microglobulin. All real-time PCRs were performed in triplicate. The specificity of the reactions was confirmed by sequencing of the PCR products.

Bacterial strains and KC stimulation

E. coli NK 9373 and E. coli NK 9375 (AFliC; a flagellin-deficient strain having an in-frame deletion within the fliC gene) (45) were kindly provided by Dr. David Bates (Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, USA). Bacterial culture supernatants were prepared as described previously (1) with minor modifications. Briefly bacteria were grown in tryptic soy broth (TSB) (Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland) with agitation at 37°C until an optical density of 1.0 (OD_{600}) was reached. Then 1 ml of this culture was combined with 9 ml of TSB and incubated overnight in 75-cm² flasks (Cellstar, Frickenhausen, Germany) at 37° C without agitation. Optical density (OD₆₀₀) of overnight cultures of E. coli strains was set with TSB to 1.7. Subsequently, bacteria were heat-killed in a water bath at 65°C for 60 min. Heat-killing was verified by a plating culture on Luria-Bertani agar. After heat-killing, cultures were centrifuged at 5000 g for 15 min. The resulting supernatants were diluted 1:100 in KBM and used to stimulate KCs from which the previous medium had been removed.

Cytokine measurement

Culture supernatants of stimulated KCs were depleted by centrifugation of detached cells or cell fragments and stored at -20° C until analysis. Concentrations of IL-1 α and IL-8 were determined by ELISA (R&D Systems) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Small interfering (si) RNA transfections

Third-passage primary KCs were used at a confluence of 60-70% in 12-well tissue culture plates. KCs were transfected with the following Stealth siRNAs using Lipofectamine 2000 reagent (Invitrogen): TLR5-siRNA1, 5'-CAUCCUUCAU-UUGGGAAGUUGAAUU-3'; TLR5-siRNA2, 5'-CCACCAG-GAGUAUUUAGCCAUCUGA-3'; control siRNA1 (scrambled sequence of TLR5-siRNA1), 5'-CAUACUUGUUUAAGGGUU-GACCAUU-3'; and control siRNA2 (scrambled sequence of TLR5-siRNA2), 5'-CCAGGAUGAUUAGAUACCCUCCUGA-3'. Lipofectamine 2000 (30 µl) was mixed with 60 µl of a 20 µM siRNA solution (1:1 mix of siRNA1 and -2) and 4 ml of OPTI-MEM medium (Gibco BRL, Gaithersburg, MD, USA). After 30 min at room temperature, 4 ml of KBM was added, and the solution was poured onto the KCs in 12-well tissue culture plates (600 µl/well) for 24 h. Afterward the medium was changed to KGM, and cells were left for another 24 h before stimulation.

Western blot analysis

For analysis of protein expression, KCs were lysed in SDS-PAGE loading buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 7.4, 2% SDS). After sonication, insoluble cell debris was removed by centrifugation, and protein concentration was measured by the bicinchoninic acid method (Pierce Biotechnology, Rockford, IL, USA). Western blot analysis was performed as described previously (46). The following first step antibodies were used: mouse monoclonal IgG₁ anti-S100A7c clone 47C1068 (dilution 1:500; Abcam, Cambridge, UK) and mouse monoclonal IgG2b anti-glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) (dilution 1:400; Biogenesis, Poole, UK). The membranes were developed using the Chemiglow reagent (Alphainnotech, San Leandro, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

RESULTS

Flagellin but not other TLR ligands induces S100A7c expression in human primary KCs

To investigate the role of TLRs in the regulation of S100A7c expression in KCs, primary human epidermal KCs were stimulated with ligands for TLR1 through TLR9. The expression of S100A7c and other AMPs was determined by quantitative real-time PCR analysis. S100A7c mRNA was up-regulated by the TLR5 ligand flagellin but not by other TLR ligands (Fig. 1A). The level of up-regulation of S100A7c induced by flagellin equalled that induced by IL-1 α (Fig. 1A). Among the other AMPs investigated, hBD-1, hBD-3, RNase7, and cathelicidin were not changed by stimulation with TLR ligands (data not shown). hBD-2 was up-regulated by flagellin, poly(I:C) (TLR3 ligand), and ODN2006 (TLR9 ligand) in a manner comparable with the results of previous studies (28, 36) (Fig. 1B). Similar to the results obtained with S100A7c, hBD-2 mRNA was almost as strongly induced by flagellin as by IL-1 α . Because hBD-2 expression showed responsiveness to flagellin similar to that of S100A7c, it was used for comparison in all further experiments.

Flagellin induces S100A7c expression in an IL-1-independent manner

Next we determined the dose and time dependence of flagellin-induced AMP expression. S100A7c mRNA was significantly induced at a flagellin concentration of 5 ng/ml (Fig. 2A), whereas 1 ng/ml flagellin sufficed to up-regulate hBD-2 mRNA expression (Fig. 2B). Increasing concentrations of flagellin up to 10 ng/ml induced higher expression levels of both S100A7c and hBD-2 mRNA, whereas further elevation of the flagellin did not cause significant additional up-regulation (Fig. 2A, B) and even reduced the inductive effect of flagellin (Fig. 2*B*). The maximum up-regulation of both S100A7c and hBD-2 mRNA was observed at time points later than 8 h after addition of flagellin to the KC culture medium (Fig. 2C, D). Essentially the same temporal expression pattern was induced by stimulation with IL-1 α (Fig. 2C, D), whereas IL-8 mRNA was up-regulated as early as 2 h after stimulation and decreased later (Fig. 2E).

The time course of S100A7c or hBD-2 expression seemed to be compatible with an indirect mechanism of regulation involving flagellin-induced cytokine release and subsequent induction of S100A7c and hBD-2 by cytokines. We therefore investigated the role of two candidate cytokines, *i.e.*, IL-1 and IL-8.

Because IL-1 α is stored in KCs and can be released by various stress stimuli (47), we determined by ELISA the IL-1 α concentration in KC culture supernatant at 2 h after flagellin stimulation, a time point before the increase of S100A7c and hBD-2 expression (Fig. 2*C*, *D*). However, IL-1 α concentrations did not differ between



Figure 1. Flagellin induces S100A7c and hBD-2 expression in human primary KCs. Normal human epidermal KCs were stimulated for 16 h with IL-1 α (10 ng/ml) and the following TLR ligands: $0.5 \,\mu g/ml$ synthetic tripalmitoylated lipopeptide (Pam3CSK4; TLR1/2 ligand), 10⁸ cells/ml heat-killed Listeria monocytogenes (HKLM; TLR2 ligand), 15 µg/ml poly(I:C) (a synthetic analog of double-stranded RNA; TLR3 ligand), 100 ng/ml ultrapure LPS from E. coli K12 (TLR4 ligand), 0.5 µg/ml purified flagellin from S. typhimurium (TLR5 ligand), $0.5 \ \mu g/ml \ FSL1$ (a synthetic lipoprotein of *M. salivarium*; TLR6/2 ligand), 10 µg/ml imiquimod (R837; TLR7 ligand), 1 µg/ml single-stranded RNA40 (ssRNA; TLR8 ligand), and 2.5 µM ODN2006 (CpG oligonucleotide type B; TLR9 ligand). After stimulation, RNA was harvested and relative S100A7c (A) and hBD-2 (B) gene expression levels were quantified by real-time PCR and normalized to the expression of the housekeeping gene β -2-microglobulin. The mean values are displayed in relation to untreated controls. Data are means \pm sp of one representative experiment of three, each done in triplicate. *P < 0.05 vs. untreated control; unpaired Student's t test.

supernatants of flagellin-stimulated and unstimulated KCs either at 2 h or 24 h after stimulation (Fig. 3A).

To exclude the theoretical possibility that released IL-1 α is captured by cellular receptors and exerts its effects without increasing in concentration in the bulk supernatant, KCs were preincubated with an IL-1 α neutralizing antibody or its corresponding isotype control, and/or with an IL-1Ra that neutralizes both IL-1 α

Flagellin-deficient *E. coli* does not induce S100A7c expression

To determine the contribution of flagellin in the induction of S100A7c expression by E. coli culture supernatant, we compared a wild-type (WT) flagellated *E. coli* strain (NK 9373) and a flagellin-deficient (Δ FliC) E. coli strain (NK 9375) with regard to their capacity to induce S100A7c expression. Culture supernatants of E. coli strains were diluted 1:100 in KBM and applied to KC cultures for 16 and 48 h. Quantitative real-time PCR revealed that WT E. coli induced S100A7c and hBD-2 mRNA expression, whereas Δ FliC *E. coli* did not (**Fig.** 4A, **B**). Neither WT nor Δ FliC *E. coli* strains were able to induce the expression of hBD-1, hBD-3, RNase7, and cathelicidin (Supplemental Fig. 1). Western blot analysis of cell lysates showed that the increase of S100A7c mRNA in response to flagellin or WT E. coli also resulted in a strong increase of S100A7c protein (Fig. 4C). In contrast, Δ FliC E. coli lacked the ability to induce S100A7c protein production (Fig. 4C). Addition of flagellin (10 ng/ml) to the Δ FliC *E. coli* culture supernatant restored the induction of S100A7c protein expression (Fig. 4C), demonstrating that the failure of this strain to induce S100A7c is not due to the presence of an inhibitor. Notably, supernatants of Δ FliC E. coli were also able to induce secretion of IL-8 by KCs, although less than WT E. coli (Fig. 4D). These findings demonstrate that flagellin is essential for E. coli-mediated induction of S100A7c and hBD-2 but only partially contributes to E. coli-mediated cytokine secretion from KCs.

Because it has been reported that S100A7a, misleadingly named human S100A15 (50), is also up-regulated by E. coli (18), we compared the potential biological significance of S100A7a and S100A7c in the defense against E. coli. Like S100A7c, S100A7a was up-regulated by IL-1 α , flagellin, and WT *E. coli* but not by Δ FliC *E. coli* (Supplemental Fig. 2A). In contrast with the conclusions of another report (18), we did not observe an increase in S100A7a in response to the TLR4 ligand LPS (data not shown). However, when we compared the absolute expression levels of both S100A7a and S100A7c by quantitative real-time PCR we found that S100A7c was expressed at a 650-fold higher level than S100A7a (12285±836 vs. 19±3 mRNA copies per 1 μg of total RNA) (Supplemental Fig. 2B). Transcripts of the third potentially functional S100A7 isoform, S100A7b, could not be detected in KCs (Supplemental Fig. 2B). These data suggest that S100A7a and S100A7c are regulated by E. coli components in a similar manner; however, S100A7c is expressed at a much higher level.



Figure 2. Time- and dose-dependent effect of flagellin on S100A7c and hBD-2 expression. KCs were stimulated with the indicated concentrations of flagellin for 24 h. Thereafter, quantitative real-time PCR analysis of S100A7c (*A*) and hBD-2 (*B*) mRNA expression was performed. KCs were cultured for the indicated times in the presence of 10 ng/ml flagellin, and quantitative real-time PCR analysis of S100A7c (*C*), hBD-2 (*D*), and IL-8 (*E*) mRNA expression was performed. KCs were stimulated with IL-1 α or IL-8 (both at 10 ng/ml) for 24 h; after stimulation, relative S100A7c and hBD-2 gene expression levels were determined by quantitative real-time PCR (*F*). All gene expression levels were normalized to the housekeeping gene β -2-microglobulin. The mean values are displayed in relation to untreated controls. Data are means \pm sD of one representative experiment of three, each done in triplicate.


Figure 3. Flagellin induction of S100A7c and hBD-2 is IL-1a-independent. A) KCs were stimulated with flagellin (10 ng/ml) for the indicated times, and culture medium was measured for IL-1 α secretion by ELISA. Data are means \pm sp of one representative experiment of two, each done in triplicate. B, C) KCs were preincubated for 90 min with anti-IL-1 α (2 µg/ml), with isotype control (2 μ g/ml) or with IL-1Ra (100 ng/ml), as indicated. Afterwards, cells were treated with IL-1 α or flagellin (both at 10 ng/ml) or left untreated for 24 h in the continued presence of the reagents used for preincubation. Relative gene expressions of S100A7c (B) and hBD-2 (C) were quantitated by real-time PCR and normalized to the housekeeping gene β -2-microglobulin. The mean values are displayed in relation to untreated controls. Data are means of triplicates \pm sp. Similar results were obtained in a second experiment. *P < 0.05, determined by unpaired Student's t test. n.s., not significant.

Knockdown of TLR5 abolishes S100A7c and hBD-2 induction by E. coli

Flagellin is known to induce antimicrobial defense via two pathways, namely activation of the intracellular receptor ICE-protease-activating factor (Ipaf) followed by caspase-1-mediated processing of IL-1 β (51) and/or binding to TLR5 and MyD88-dependent intracellular signaling (24). Because our results obtained with the IL-1Ra argued against a role of IL-1β and, accordingly,

also against a role of the Ipaf pathway (51), we focused our further investigations on the putative role of TLR5 in the response of KCs toward E. coli. siRNA technology was used to knock down TLR5 expression in KCs. Transfection of KCs with TLR5 siRNA led to a downregulation of TLR5 mRNA by 70% compared with siRNA with a scrambled sequence (Fig. 5A). Knockdown of TLR5 strongly inhibited the induction of S100A7c and hBD-2 mRNA by flagellin and WT E. coli supernatant (Fig. 5B, C). Western blot analysis of cell



Figure 4. Δ FliC does not induce S100A7c or hBD-2 in human primary KCs. A, B) Culture supernatants of WT and Δ FliC *E. coli* strains and tryptic soy broth [control (ctrl.)] were diluted 1:100 in KBM and added to KCs from which the previous culture medium had been removed. Culture was continued for 16 h. After stimulation, relative S100A7c (A) and hBD-2 (B) gene expression levels were determined by quantitative real-time PCR. The results were normalized to the expression of the housekeeping gene β -2-microglobulin. Mean values are displayed in relation to the control. Data are means \pm sp of triplicate samples from one representative of four independent experiments. C) S100A7c and GAPDH Western blot analysis of cell lysates after 48 h of stimulation with IL-1 α , flagellin (both at 10 ng/ml), and E. coli culture supernatants (1:100 in KBM). The Western blot is representative of at least four independent experiments. D) Culture medium was collected after 16 h of stimulation, and the concentration of IL-8 was determined by ELISA. Data are means \pm sp of triplicate samples from one representative of three independent experiments. *P < 0.05, unpaired Student's t test.

WТ

∆FliC

IL-8

D

1600

1400

1200

1000 pg/m

800

600

400 200

٥

ctrl.





Figure 5. Knockdown of TLR5 abolishes the induction of S100A7c and hBD-2 by *E. coli* supernatant in human primary KCs. KCs were transfected either with scrambled (scr; \Box) or TLR5 (**I**) siRNA. Forty-eight hours after transfection, cells were stimulated with flagellin (10 ng/ml), culture supernatants of WT and Δ FliC *E. coli* strains or tryptic soy broth [control (ctrl.)] diluted (1:100) in KBM. Sixteen or 48 h later mRNA and protein, respectively, were prepared and analyzed. *A*–*C*) Relative expression of TLR5 (*A*), S100A7c (*B*), and hBD-2 (*C*) was quantified by real-time PCR. The results were normalized to the expression of the housekeeping gene β -2-microglobulin. Mean values are displayed in relation to untreated controls. Data

are means \pm sp of triplicate samples from one representative of three independent experiments. *D*) S100A7c and GAPDH Western blot analysis of TLR5 knockdown KC lysate stimulated for 48 h as indicated. The data are representative of three independent experiments.

lysates showed that knockdown of TLR5 also suppressed the increase of S100A7c protein production by flagellin and WT *E. coli* supernatant (Fig. 5*D*).

DISCUSSION

S100A7c is one of the most potent antimicrobial agents of the skin surface and it appears to be relatively specific for *E. coli* (1). The fact that S100A7c is expressed in a focal pattern in the epidermis and the finding that *E. coli* culture supernatants are able to increase S100A7c abundance on human skin have indicated that S100A7c is up-regulated by bacterial substances entering the epidermis through microwounds (1, 2). However, distinct exogenous molecular triggers of S100A7c have remained elusive. In the present study, we demonstrate that S100A7c is induced by flagellin, a component of flagellated bacteria, including *E. coli*.

A key result of this study was the demonstration that flagellin deficiency of *E. coli* is associated with a lack of induction of S100A7c. Because we compared two *E. coli* strains that differed exclusively at the locus of the *fliC* gene, which was destroyed by targeted deletion in *E. coli* NK9375, mutations affecting other gene products can be excluded as causative factors for the observed difference. Together with our demonstration that purified flagellin is sufficient to induce S100A7c up-regulation, the data obtained with *E. coli* supernatants strongly suggest that flagellin is the only relevant *E. coli* component that stimulates S100A7c expression in KCs. However, there remains the theoretical possibility that an as yet unknown factor attaches to flagellin and contributes to its effects. The ultimate proof may involve the use of ultrapure flagellin or flagellin fragments produced by peptide synthesis *in vitro* instead of purification from flagellated bacteria or bacteria expressing recombinant flagellin.

Complementary to our findings regarding the role of bacterial flagellin in S100A7c regulation, we have identified the flagellin receptor TLR5 as an essential element of the sensory and signaling system for *E. coli* in KCs. Furthermore, our data also demonstrate that TLR5 is critical for the induction of hBD-2. Compared with the results of a previous report (52) that showed ~7-fold up-regulation of hBD-2 promoter activity in response to bacterial muramyl dipeptide (MDP), the 50- to 100-fold up-regulation of hBD-2 mRNA expression by flagellin observed in our study appears to be more relevant in a physiological context. However, it is conceivable that TLR5 on the KC membrane and intracellular NOD2, the receptor of MDP, cooperate in sensing *E. coli* and triggering hBD-2 expression.

S100A7c is up-regulated by flagellin more than 8 h after stimulation of KCs. The response time from addition of flagellin to the production of S100A7c mRNA was longer than that for the induction of IL-8 but was comparable to the kinetics of S100A7c expression in KCs observed by others after stimulation with various cytokines (1, 49). The exploration of the cause for this relatively slow response exceeds the scope of our present study. However, our data argue against a role of autocrine activation of S100A7c production by IL-1 and IL-8, because blockade of the former did not inhibit flagellin-induced S100A7c expression and addition of the latter did not induce the expression of S100A7c when added to KCs.

Our data on the regulation of S100A7c extend the range of inducers of S100A7c in KCs. Previously, the

cytokines IL-1 β , tumor necrosis factor- α , IFN- γ (1), IL-6, IL-17, IL-20, IL-22, IL-24, and oncostatin M (49), as well as late states of KC differentiation (53), have been shown to enhance the expression level of S100A7c. The role of flagellin in the control of S100A7c therefore needs to be further evaluated in combination with other factors, many of which may be highly relevant in the context of cutaneous wounds. Unfortunately, the mouse is not a suitable model system for the investigation of S100A7 regulation because the mouse has lost the S100A7 genes during evolution (50). The murine gene most closely related to S100A7 is S100A15, the ortholog of which has been lost during human evolution (50). Although S100A15 may fulfill a role in the mouse equivalent to that of S100A7 in humans, the regulatory mechanisms of both genes are likely to differ (18).

It is remarkable that the presence of the inducer of S100A7c, flagellin, distinguishes E. coli from the nonflagellated bacteria of the commensal skin microflora (54, 55). The specific response of KCs to a flagellated bacterium by induction of S100A7c and hBD-2 expression may exemplify a previously unappreciated ability of the innate immune system to discriminate between potentially harmful microbes and commensal bacteria. In line with this concept, S100A7c has been shown to exert virtually no bactericidal activity against the skinresident bacterium Staphylococcus epidermidis (1). Further studies are necessary to determine whether the antimicrobial defense of the skin is adapted to specifically respond to and attack opportunistic bacteria while preserving the resident microflora. Fj

The authors are grateful to David Bates (Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, USA) for providing *E. coli* strains. We thank Veronika Mlitz, Martina Schmidt, Christine Poitschek, Awaz Uthman, and Heidemarie Rossiter for helpful discussions. J.-M.S. was supported by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, SFB 617.

REFERENCES

- Gläser, R., Harder, J., Lange, H., Bartels, J., Christophers, E., and Schröder, J. M. (2005) Antimicrobial psoriasin (S100A7) protects human skin from *Escherichia coli* infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 6, 57–64
- Schröder, J. M., and Harder, J. (2006) Antimicrobial skin peptides and proteins. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 63, 469–486
- Zasloff, M. (1987) Magainins, a class of antimicrobial peptides from *Xenopus* skin: isolation, characterization of two active forms, and partial cDNA sequence of a precursor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 84, 5449–5453
- Diamond, G., Zasloff, M., Eck, H., Brasseur, M., Maloy, W. L., and Bevins, C. L. (1991) Tracheal antimicrobial peptide, a cysteine-rich peptide from mammalian tracheal mucosa: peptide isolation and cloning of a cDNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 88, 3952–3956
- O'Neil, D. A., Porter, E. M., Elewaut, D., Anderson, G. M., Eckmann, L., Ganz, T., and Kagnoff, M. F. (1999) Expression and regulation of the human β-defensins hBD-1 and hBD-2 in intestinal epithelium. *J. Immunol.* 163, 6718–6724
- Singh, P. K., Jia, H. P., Wiles, K., Hesselberth, J., Liu, L., Conway, B. A., Greenberg, E. P., Valore, E. V., Welsh, M. J., Ganz, T., Tack, B. F., and McCray, P. B., Jr. (1998) Production of

β-defensins by human airway epithelia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 14961–14966

- Harder, J., Bartels, J., Christophers, E., and Schröder, J. M. (1997) A peptide antibiotic from human skin. *Nature* 387, 861
- Sahl, H. G., Pag, U., Bonness, S., Wagner, S., Antcheva, N., and Tossi, A. (2005) Mammalian defensins: structures and mechanism of antibiotic activity. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 77, 466–475
- Huang, Y. C., Lin, Y. M., Chang, T. W., Wu, S. J., Lee, Y. S., Chang, M. D., Chen, C., Wu, S. H., and Liao, Y. D. (2007) The flexible and clustered lysine residues of human ribonuclease 7 are critical for membrane permeability and antimicrobial activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 4626–4633
- Henzler Wildman, K. A., Lee, D. K., and Ramamoorthy, A. (2003) Mechanism of lipid bilayer disruption by the human antimicrobial peptide, LL-37. *Biochemistry* 42, 6545–6558
- Chromek, M., Slamova, Z., Bergman, P., Kovacs, L., Podracka, L., Ehren, I., Hokfelt, T., Gudmundsson, G. H., Gallo, R. L., Agerberth, B., and Brauner, A. (2006) The antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin protects the urinary tract against invasive bacterial infection. *Nat. Med.* **12**, 636–641
- Nizet, V., Ohtake, T., Lauth, X., Trowbridge, J., Rudisill, J., Dorschner, R. A., Pestonjamasp, V., Piraino, J., Huttner, K., and Gallo, R. L. (2001) Innate antimicrobial peptide protects the skin from invasive bacterial infection. *Nature* **414**, 454–457
- Moser, C., Weiner, D. J., Lysenko, E., Bals, R., Weiser, J. N., and Wilson, J. M. (2002) β-Defensin 1 contributes to pulmonary innate immunity in mice. *Infect. Immun.* **70**, 3068–3072
- Eckert, R. L., Broome, A. M., Ruse, M., Robinson, N., Ryan, D., and Lee, K. (2004) S100 proteins in the epidermis. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 123, 23–33
- Wolf, R., Mirmohammadsadegh, A., Walz, M., Lysa, B., Tartler, U., Remus, R., Hengge, U., Michel, G., and Ruzicka, T. (2003) Molecular cloning and characterization of alternatively spliced mRNA isoforms from psoriatic skin encoding a novel member of the S100 family. *FASEB J.* 17, 1969–1971
- Broome, A. M., Ryan, D., and Eckert, R. L. (2003) S100 protein subcellular localization during epidermal differentiation and psoriasis. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 51, 675–685
- Boni, R., Burg, G., Doguoglu, A., Ilg, E. C., Schafer, B. W., Muller, B., and Heizmann, C. W. (1997) Immunohistochemical localization of the Ca²⁺ binding S100 proteins in normal human skin and melanocytic lesions. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 137, 39–43
- Büchau, A. S., Hassan, M., Kukova, G., Lewerenz, V., Kellermann, S., Wurthner, J. U., Wolf, R., Walz, M., Gallo, R. L., and Ruzicka, T. (2007) S100A15, an antimicrobial protein of the skin: regulation by *E. coli* through Toll-like receptor 4. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 127, 2596–2604
- Cole, A. M., Kim, Y. H., Tahk, S., Hong, T., Weis, P., Waring, A. J., and Ganz, T. (2001) Calcitermin, a novel antimicrobial peptide isolated from human airway secretions. *FEBS Lett.* 504, 5–10
- Murthy, A. R., Lehrer, R. I., Harwig, S. S., and Miyasaki, K. T. (1993) In vitro candidastatic properties of the human neutrophil calprotectin complex. *J. Immunol.* 151, 6291–6301
- Madsen, P., Rasmussen, H. H., Leffers, H., Honore, B., Dejgaard, K., Olsen, E., Kiil, J., Walbum, E., Andersen, A. H., and Basse, B. (1991) Molecular cloning, occurrence, and expression of a novel partially secreted protein "psoriasin" that is highly up-regulated in psoriatic skin. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 97, 701–712
- Kulski, J. K., Lim, C. P., Dunn, D. S., and Bellgard, M. (2003) Genomic and phylogenetic analysis of the S100A7 (Psoriasin) gene duplications within the region of the S100 gene cluster on human chromosome 1q21. *J. Mol. Evol.* 56, 397–406
- Wolf, R., Voscopoulos, C. J., FitzGerald, P. C., Goldsmith, P., Cataisson, C., Gunsior, M., Walz, M., Ruzicka, T., and Yuspa, S. H. (2006) The mouse S100A15 ortholog parallels genomic organization, structure, gene expression, and protein-processing pattern of the human S100A7/A15 subfamily during epidermal maturation. J. Invest. Dermatol. 126, 1600–1608
- 24. Akira, S., Uematsu, S., and Takeuchi, O. (2006) Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell* **124**, 783–801
- Kadowaki, N., Ho, S., Antonenko, S., Malefyt, R. W., Kastelein, R. A., Bazan, F., and Liu, Y. J. (2001) Subsets of human dendritic cell precursors express different toll-like receptors and respond to different microbial antigens. *J. Exp. Med.* **194**, 863–869
- Lebre, M. C., van der Aar, A. M., van Baarsen, L., van Capel, T. M., Schuitemaker, J. H., Kapsenberg, M. L., and de Jong,

E. C. (2007) Human keratinocytes express functional Toll-like receptor 3, 4, 5, and 9. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* **127**, 331–341

- Köllisch, G., Kalali, B. N., Voelcker, V., Wallich, R., Behrendt, H., Ring, J., Bauer, S., Jakob, T., Mempel, M., and Ollert, M. (2005) Various members of the Toll-like receptor family contribute to the innate immune response of human epidermal keratinocytes. *Immunology* 114, 531–541
- Miller, L. S., Sorensen, O. E., Liu, P. T., Jalian, H. R., Eshtiaghpour, D., Behmanesh, B. E., Chung, W., Starner, T. D., Kim, J., Sieling, P. A., Ganz, T., and Modlin, R. L. (2005) TGF-α regulates TLR expression and function on epidermal keratinocytes. *J. Immunol.* **174**, 6137–6143
- 29. Miller, L. S., and Modlin, R. L. (2007) Toll-like receptors in the skin. *Semin. Immunopathol.* **29**, 15–26
- Akira, S., and Hemmi, H. (2003) Recognition of pathogenassociated molecular patterns by TLR family. *Immunol. Lett.* 85, 85–95
- Beutler, B. (2004) Inferences, questions and possibilities in Toll-like receptor signalling. *Nature* 430, 257–263
- Alexopoulou, L., Holt, A. C., Medzhitov, R., and Flavell, R. A. (2001) Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-κB by Toll-like receptor 3. *Nature* 413, 732–738
- Tapping, R. I., Akashi, S., Miyake, K., Godowski, P. J., and Tobias, P. S. (2000) Toll-like receptor 4, but not Toll-like receptor 2, is a signaling receptor for *Escherichia* and *Salmonella* lipopolysaccharides. *J. Immunol.* 165, 5780–5787
- Hayashi, F., Smith, K. D., Ozinsky, A., Hawn, T. R., Yi, E. C., Goodlett, D. R., Eng, J. K., Akira, S., Underhill, D. M., and Aderem, A. (2001) The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by Toll-like receptor 5. *Nature* 410, 1099– 1103
- Akira, S., and Takeda, K. (2004) Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 4, 499–511
- Schaefer, T. M., Fahey, J. V., Wright, J. A., and Wira, C. R. (2005) Innate immunity in the human female reproductive tract: antiviral response of uterine epithelial cells to the TLR3 agonist poly(I:C). *J. Immunol.* **174**, 992–1002
- Hertz, C. J., Wu, Q., Porter, E. M., Zhang, Y. J., Weismuller, K. H., Godowski, P. J., Ganz, T., Randell, S. H., and Modlin, R. L. (2003) Activation of Toll-like receptor 2 on human tracheobronchial epithelial cells induces the antimicrobial peptide human beta defensin-2. *J. Immunol.* 171, 6820–6826
- Vora, P., Youdim, A., Thomas, L. S., Fukata, M., Tesfay, S. Y., Lukasek, K., Michelsen, K. S., Wada, A., Hirayama, T., Arditi, M., and Abreu, M. T. (2004) β-Defensin-2 expression is regulated by TLR signaling in intestinal epithelial cells. *J. Immunol.* 173, 5398–5405
- Kawai, K. (2003) Expression of functional toll-like receptors on cultured human epidermal keratinocytes. J. Invest. Dermatol. 121, 217–218
- Baker, B. S., Ovigne, J. M., Powles, A. V., Corcoran, S., and Fry, L. (2003) Normal keratinocytes express Toll-like receptors (TLRs) 1, 2 and 5: modulation of TLR expression in chronic plaque psoriasis. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 148, 670–679
- Mempel, M., Voelcker, V., Köllisch, G., Plank, C., Rad, R., Gerhard, M., Schnopp, C., Fraunberger, P., Walli, A. K., Ring, J., Abeck, D., and Ollert, M. (2003) Toll-like receptor expression in human keratinocytes: nuclear factor κB controlled gene activation by *Staphylococcus aureus* is Toll-like receptor 2 but not

Toll-like receptor 4 or platelet activating factor receptor dependent. J. Invest. Dermatol. **121**, 1389–1396

- Rendl, M., Ban, J., Mrass, P., Mayer, C., Lengauer, B., Eckhart, L., Declerq, W., and Tschachler, E. (2002) Caspase-14 expression by epidermal keratinocytes is regulated by retinoids in a differentiation-associated manner. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 119, 1150– 1155
- 43. Gruber, F., Hufnagl, P., Hofer-Warbinek, R., Schmid, J. A., Breuss, J. M., Huber-Beckmann, R., Lucerna, M., Papac, N., Harant, H., Lindley, I., de Martin, R., and Binder, B. R. (2003) Direct binding of Nur77/NAK-1 to the plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI-1) promoter regulates TNF α-induced PAI-1 expression. *Blood* **101**, 3042–3048
- 44. Pfaffl, M. W. (2001) A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **29**, e45
- 45. Bates, D., Epstein, J., Boye, E., Fahrner, K., Berg, H., and Kleckner, N. (2005) The *Escherichia coli* baby cell column: a novel cell synchronization method provides new insight into the bacterial cell cycle. *Mol. Microbiol.* 57, 380–391
- Mildner, M., Ballaun, C., Stichenwirth, M., Bauer, R., Gmeiner, R., Buchberger, M., Mlitz, V., and Tschachler, E. (2006) Gene silencing in a human organotypic skin model. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 348, 76–82
- Lee, R. T., Briggs, W. H., Cheng, G. C., Rossiter, H. B., Libby, P., and Kupper, T. (1997) Mechanical deformation promotes secretion of IL-1α and IL-1 receptor antagonist. *J. Immunol.* 159, 5084–5088
- Erdag, G., and Morgan, J. R. (2002) Interleukin-1α and interleukin-6 enhance the antibacterial properties of cultured composite keratinocyte grafts. *Ann. Surg.* 235, 113–124
- Boniface, K., Diveu, C., Morel, F., Pedretti, N., Froger, J., Ravon, E., Garcia, M., Venereau, E., Preisser, L., Guignouard, E., Guillet, G., Dagregorio, G., Pene, J., Moles, J. P., Yssel, H., Chevalier, S., Bernard, F. X., Gascan, H., and Lecron, J. C. (2007) Oncostatin M secreted by skin infiltrating T lymphocytes is a potent keratinocyte activator involved in skin inflammation. *J. Immunol.* 178, 4615–4622
- Hahn, Y., Jeong, S., and Lee, B. (2007) Inactivation of MOXD2 and S100A15A by exon deletion during human evolution. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 24, 2203–2212
- Miao, E. A., Alpuche-Aranda, C. M., Dors, M., Clark, A. E., Bader, M. W., Miller, S. I., and Aderem, A. (2006) Cytoplasmic flagellin activates caspase-1 and secretion of interleukin 1β via Ipaf. *Nat. Immunol.* 7, 569–575
- Voss, E., Wehkamp, J., Wehkamp, K., Stange, E. F., Schroder, J. M., and Harder, J. (2006) NOD2/CARD15 mediates induction of the antimicrobial peptide human β-defensin-2. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 2005–2011
- 53. Martinsson, H., Yhr, M., and Enerback, C. (2005) Expression patterns of S100A7 (psoriasin) and S100A9 (calgranulin-B) in keratinocyte differentiation. *Exp. Dermatol.* **14**, 161–168
- Chiller, K., Selkin, B. A., and Murakawa, G. J. (2001) Skin microflora and bacterial infections of the skin. J. Investig. Dermatol. Symp. Proc. 6, 170–174
- Bojar, R. A., and Holland, K. T. (2002) Review: the human cutaneous microflora and factors controlling colonisation. *World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 18, 889–903

Received for publication December 10, 2007. Accepted for publication January 17, 2008.

4. Chapter II: Degradation by stratum corneum proteases prevents endogenous RNase inhibitor from blocking antimicrobial activities of RNase 5 and RNase 7

Accepted for publication in Journal of Investigative Dermatology (JID, 2009)

Arby Abtin¹, Leopold Eckhart¹, Michael Mildner¹, Minoo Ghannadan¹, Jürgen Harder², Jens-Michael Schröder² and Erwin Tschachler^{1,3}

¹Department of Dermatology, Medical University of Vienna, A-1090 Vienna, Austria; ²Department of Dermatology, University Hospital Schleswig-Holstein, University of Kiel, Kiel 24105, Germany; ³Centre de Recherches et d'Investigations Epidermiques et Sensorielles (CE.R.I.E.S.), Neuilly sur Seine, France

Corresponding author: Leopold Eckhart Ph.D., Department of Dermatology, Medical University of Vienna, Waehringer Guertel 18-20, 1090 Vienna, Austria. Tel: 0043-1-40400-5833, Fax: 0043-1-40400-5167 E-mail: leopold.eckhart@meduniwien.ac.at

Short title: Regulation of antimicrobial RNases in the stratum corneum

Keywords: Ribonuclease, ribonuclease inhibitor, antimicrobial activity, stratum corneum, serine protease.

Abbreviations: RI, ribonuclease inhibitor; RNase, ribonuclease; KCs, keratinocytes; SC, stratum corneum; CFUs, colony-forming units; qRT-PCR, quantitative real-time PCR; MES, 2-(N-morpholino) ethanesulfonic acid; Ig, immunoglobulin; DEPC diethylpyrocarbonate.

Abstract

The antimicrobial defense of the skin is partially mediated by RNase 7, an abundant ribonuclease of the stratum corneum (SC). Here we investigated the expression and regulation of members of the RNase A family and of the endogenous RNase inhibitor (RI) protein in epidermal keratinocytes (KCs). RT-PCR screening revealed that KCs expressed not only RNase 7 but also RNase 5, which was previously shown to kill the yeast Candida albicans, as well as RNase 1, RNase 4 and RI. The mRNA and protein levels of RNase 5, RNase 7 and RI increased during KC differentiation. When RNase 5 and RNase 7 were incubated with RI in vitro, not only their ribonucleolytic activities but also their antimicrobial activities were strongly suppressed. Immunochemical analyses revealed that SC contains RNase 5 whereas RI was not detectable. Unlike recombinant RNase 5, recombinant RI was degraded when exposed to SC extract. The addition of aprotinin prevented the degradation of RI, indicating that serine proteases of the SC cleave RI. Taken together, this study adds RNase 5 to the list of antimicrobial factors present in the SC and suggests that proteases indirectly contribute to the defense function of the SC by releasing the RImediated inhibition of RNase 5 and RNase 7.

Introduction

The fact that the surface of human skin contains strong ribonuclease (RNase) activity is well known (Tabachnick and Freed, 1961; Steigleder and Raab, 1962). However, the physiological role of the skin ribonuclease activity and its control has not yet been characterized in depth. Recently, RNase 7 was isolated from human stratum corneum (SC), and was shown to exert antimicrobial activity (Harder and Schröder, 2002).

RNase 7 is a member of the human RNase A superfamily, which is encoded by a cluster of thirteen genes located on chromosome 14g11.2. Only eight genes (RNases 1 to 8) of this family encode for proteins which are catalytically active to varying degrees against standard RNA substrates (Dyer and Rosenberg, 2006). In addition to their ribonuclease activity, some members of this family such as RNase 2 (eosinophil-derived neurotoxin; EDN), RNase 3 (eosinophil cationic protein; ECP), RNase 5, the above-mentioned RNase 7 and RNase 8 have antimicrobial properties as well (Domachowske et al., 1998; Lehrer et al., 1989; Hooper et al., 2003; Harder and Schröder, 2002; Rudolph et al., 2006), indicating a role in the innate immune defense. RNase 7 is active especially against Enterococcus faecium, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Pichia pastoris, and to a lesser degree against Propionibacterium acnes and E. coli (Harder and Schröder, 2002; Huang et al., 2007). It has been suggested that the antimicrobial activity of RNase 7 is due to pore formation and disruption of the bacterial membrane and is independent of the ribonuclease activity (Huang et al., 2007). RNase 5, also known as angiogenin, has been implicated in blood vessel formation (Fett et al., 1985), but a recent study revealed an antimicrobial activity of RNase 5 especially against Candida albicans (Hooper et al., 2003). RNase

5 is secreted by reconstructed human epidermis *in vitro* (Rendl *et al.*, 2001), however, its contribution to the skin defense is unknown.

Ribonuclease inhibitor (RI) is a horseshoe-shaped leucine-rich repeat protein (Kobe and Deisenhofer, 1993) which constitutes about 0.1% of the total protein in the cytosol of mammalian cells (Leland and Raines, 2001). Via its concave cavity, RI binds at a 1:1 stoichiometry to several members of the RNase A superfamily (Shapiro and Vallee, 1987; Maeda *et al.*, 2002; Iyer *et al.*, 2005; Johnson *et al.*, 2007; Shapiro *et al.*, 1986; Papageorgiou *et al.*, 1997). RI has been shown to inhibit the enzymatic activity of RNases as well as the antiretroviral activity of RNase 2 (Domachowske and Rosenberg, 1997) and the angiogenic activity of RNase 5 (Shapiro and Vallee, 1987). By contrast, the killing activity of RNase 3 towards microfilaria and trypanosomes is not blocked by RI (Hamann *et al.*, 1990; Molina *et al.*, 1988).

Here we have investigated the regulation of RNase-RI interactions in the outer layers of the epidermis. We show that *in vitro*, the ribonuclease and antimicrobial activities of RNase 5 and RNase 7, which are both expressed by KCs and present in the SC, are sensitive to RI. Despite the fact that, like RNase 5 and RNase 7, RI is also up-regulated during terminal KC differentiation, it is virtually absent from normal SC. Co-incubation of RI and SC extracts revealed the existence of SC proteolytic activity able to degrade RI. We propose that by degrading RI, proteases of the SC contribute to the antimicrobial defense of the skin.

Materials & Methods

Cell culture

Human primary KCs prepared from neonatal foreskin were obtained from Clonetics (San Diego, CA) and cultured in serum-free keratinocyte growth medium (KGM, Clonetics) as described previously (Rendl *et al.*, 2002). Third passage KCs were cultured in 12-well tissue culture plates (Corning Incorporated, Corning, NY) and used at a confluence of 60-70% (designated as proliferating) or maintained for 4 days after reaching confluence (designated as differentiated) by replacing the medium every 24 hours. The differentiation state of KCs was confirmed by determination of the differentiation marker filaggrin. Cultures were grown in triplicates. For *in vitro* stimulation recombinant interleukin (IL)-1α and IL-6 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) were used.

RNA isolation, reverse transcription and PCR

RNA was isolated using TRIzol® Reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. cDNAs were synthesized as described previously (Abtin *et al.*, 2008). Briefly, RNA was reverse-transcribed with murine leukemia virus reverse transcriptase using the Gene Amp RNA PCR kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) and oligo dT primers (Roche Diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland). cDNA sequences of the genes under investigation were obtained from the GenBank. Primers were designed using the PRIMER3 software from the Whitehead Institute for Biomedical Research (Cambridge, MA). The following forward (F) and reverse (R) intron-spanning primers were synthesized by VBC Genomics (VBC Genomics, Vienna, Austria):

RNase 1: F, 5'- GATTGCAGAAACTGGCCTTC-3'; R, 5'-

CTGGGGGAACTGTCTGAGTC-3'; RNase 2: F, 5'-CTGAACCCCAGAACAACCAG-

3'; R, 5'-GAGCCCAGGTAAACTGTGGA-3'; RNase 3: F, 5'-

AACAACCAGCTGGATCAGTTC-3'; R, 5'-CCACTGAGCCCTCGTAAACT-3'; RNase

4: F, 5'-AGAAGCGGGTGAGAAACAAA-3'; R, 5'-AGTAGCGATCACTGCCACCT-3';

RNase 5: F, 5'-AGAAGCGGGTGAGAAACAAA-3'; R, 5'-

TGTGGCTCGGTACTGGCATG-3'; RNase 6: F, 5'-ATACACACAGGGCTCGAAGG-

3'; R, 5'-GGACACACTGGTCCCCATAG-3'; RNase 7; F, 5'-

GAGTCACAGCACGAAGACCA-3'; R, 5'-GGCTGCATGTGCTGAATTT-3'; RNase 8;

F, 5'-CAGTGGTTTAAAACTCAGCATG-3'; R, 5'-ACTATGTAAGGTGTGTTCAGGT-

3'; RI; F, 5'-CATCAGCTCTGCACTTCGAG-3'; R, 5'-CAAGAGGTTGTCGCTGAGGT-

3'; B2M: F, 5'-GATGAGTATGCCTGCCGTGTG-3'; R, 5'-

CAATCCAAATGCGGCATCT-3'; ALAS: F, 5'-CCACTGGAAGAGCTGTGTGA-3'; R,

5'-ACCCTCCAACACCAAAG-3'; human beta defensin-2 (hBD-2): F, 5'-

ATCAGCCATGAGGGTCTTGT-3'; R, 5'-GAGACCACAGGTGCCATTTT-3'.

PCRs were performed in a volume of 50 µl containing 0.2 µl Red Hot® DNA polymerase (ABgene, Hamburg, Germany), 5 µl 10x reaction buffer IV (ABgene), 3 µl MgCl₂ (25 mM), 4 µl dNTPs (2.5 mM), 2.5 µl of each primer (10 µM) and 31.8 µl H₂O. The PCR included 5 minutes 94°C for initial denaturing followed by 38 cycles of 1 minute at 94°C, 45 seconds at 60°C, 45 seconds at 72°C and a final extension step at 72°C for 5 minutes. A negative control (omitting cDNA) and a genomic DNA control PCR were performed for each primer pair. Amplicons were subjected to electrophoresis in a 1.5% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide.

Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) was performed by the LightCycler technology using the Fast Start SYBR Green I kit for amplification and detection (Roche Diagnostics). In all assays, cDNA was amplified using a standardized program (10 minutes denaturing step and 55 cycles of 5 seconds at 95°C; 15 seconds at 65°C, and 15 seconds at 72°C; melting point analysis in 0.1°C steps; final cooling step). Each LightCycler capillary was loaded with 1.5 µl DNA master mix, 1.8 μ I MgCl₂ (25 mM), 10.2 μ I H₂O, and 0.5 μ I of each primer (10 μ M). Relative quantification of target gene expression and amplification efficiencies were performed using a mathematical model as described previously (Pfaffl, 2001). The expression of the target gene was normalized to the expression of the housekeeping genes 5aminolevulinic acid synthase (ALAS) and/or β-2-microglobulin (B2M). Similar target mRNA guantifications were obtained with either housekeeping gene as standard. All qRT-PCRs were performed in triplicate. The specificity of PCR reactions was confirmed by sequencing of the PCR products. For the identification of RNase 1 variants, PCR products were cloned into a pCR®2.1-TOPO® plasmid (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions and clones with different insert lengths were sequenced.

Quantification of RNase 5 and RNase 7

Culture supernatants of KCs or SC extracts were depleted by centrifugation of insoluble cell fragments and stored at -20°C until analysis. The concentration of RNase 5 was determined by ELISA (R&D Systems) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

The concentration of RNase 7 was determined with an in-house RNase 7 ELISA, which has been developed using affinity-purified goat RNase 7 antibodies as will be described elsewhere¹.

¹ Könten, B., Gläser, R., Schröder, J.M., and Harder, J. (2008). RNase 7 contributes to the cutaneous defense against *Enterococcus faecium*. unpublished.

Immunohistochemical analysis

Normal human skin was kindly provided by the Department of Plastic Surgery, Medical University of Vienna, Austria. Immunohistochemical analysis was performed on paraffin-embedded, formalin-fixed skin sections (4 µm) using the indirect immunoperoxidase staining technique. Briefly, endogenous peroxidase activity of sections were blocked by 0.3% H₂O₂/PBS (pH 7.5) for 15 minutes, washed with PBS and then blocked for 30 minutes with 10% goat serum (PAA, Linz, Austria) diluted in 2% BSA/PBS. A polyclonal rabbit IgG anti-porcine RI antibody (kindly provided by J. Hofsteenge, Friedrich Miescher-Institut, Basel, Switzerland) was used. This antibody cross-reacts with human RI (Blazguez et al., 1996). Before immunolabeling with anti-RI or a rabbit IgG isotype control (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) sections were pre-treated in ChemMate[™] Target Retrieval Solution (Dako Cytomation, Glostrup, Denmark) in a microwave oven for 2 x 5 minutes at 500 W. The anti-RI antibody and/or rabbit IgG isotype control (both at 2 µg/ml) were diluted in 2% BSA/PBS and applied for 1 hour on sections at room temperature. After washing in PBS, slides were incubated with biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:100, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) for 30 minutes, washed in PBS and then exposed to StreptABComplex/HRP (Dako Cytomation) for 30 minutes. The AEC

(aminoethylcarbazole) substrate system (Dako Cytomation) was used as the chromogen. Sections were counter-stained with hematoxylin.

Ribonuclease activity assay

Recombinant RNase 5 (R&D Systems), purified RNase 7 (Harder and Schröder, 2002) or SC extract were pre-incubated with RI in 30 mM Tris (pH 7.5) containing 30 mM NaCl in a total volume of 15 µl for 10 minutes at 37°C. Afterwards 1.5 µg of total RNA were added to the reactions and incubated for 5 minutes at 37°C. Then RNA loading buffer (Fermentas, Glen Burnie, MD) was added and the mixture was heated for 5 minutes at 65°C, cooled on ice and subsequently electrophoresed through a 1% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide.

Ribonuclease activity of RNase 5 was blocked by pre-incubation with DEPC or benzopurpurin B (both from Sigma-Aldrich, Vienna, Austria) in 10 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) in a total volume of 15 µl for 1 hour at 37°C.

Antimicrobial activity assay

C. albicans ATCC 90028 and a vancomycin-resistant *E. faecium* clinical isolate were cultured overnight in tryptic soy broth (TSB; Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland) with agitation at 37°C, subcultured the next day in fresh TSB and then grown to optical densities of 1.0 at 600 nm for *E. faecium* or at 450 nm for *C. albicans*, respectively. Cells were washed twice with PBS and diluted to 10^4 colony-forming units (CFUs) per ml in 10 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) containing 1% (v/v) TSB.

Recombinant human RNase 5 (> 95% purity) was purchased from R&D Systems and natural RNase 7 was purified from heel SC as described previously (Harder and

Schröder, 2002). Recombinant human RI was purchased from Ambion (Warrington, UK). The antimicrobial activity was tested using a microdilution assay system. Tubes were pre-incubated with 2% BSA/PBS for 1 hour at 37°C and were then rinsed with 10 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) containing 1% (v/v) TSB. Since RI is provided with a storage buffer containing 20 mM HEPES-KOH (pH 7.6), 50 mM KCI, 5 mM dithiothreitol and 50% (v/v) glycerol, the same buffer without RI was used in control reactions. For inhibitory activity experiments, RNase 5 or RNase 7 were preincubated with buffer alone or with RI in 10 µl volumes of 10 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) for 1 hour at 37°C. 100 µl of the above-mentioned C. albicans or E. faecium suspensions were then added and incubated for 3 hours at 37°C with agitation. Afterwards, 20 µl aliquots were plated on Luria-Bertani agar or Sabouraud-Dextrose agar for E. faecium and C. albicans, respectively. Plates were incubated overnight at 37°C. On the following day the number of CFUs was determined. The growth inhibitory activities of the substances were calculated as follows: (CFUs after incubation with substance) / (CFUs after incubation without substance) x 100, which represents the percentage of remaining CFUs after treatment.

Antimicrobial activity and calculation of growth inhibition of recombinant RNase 5 towards *P. aeruginosa* ATCC 27853, methicillin-resistant *St. aureus* ATCC 33592 (MRSA), *E. coli* ATCC 35218 and a clinical isolate of group A *Streptococcus* (GAS) were performed as described above except that GAS was grown in TSB supplemented with 10 % heat-inactivated fetal calf serum. For the determination of CFUs, GAS was plated on Columbia agar, and *P. aeruginosa, St. aureus* and *E. coli* were plated on Luria-Bertani agar.

To test whether RNase 5 antimicrobial activity is blocked by DEPC or benzopurpurin B, RNase 5 was pre-incubated in 10 μ l volumes of sodium phosphate buffer (10 mM, pH 7.4) for 1 hour at 37°C with increasing concentrations of DEPC or

benzopurpurin B. 100 μ l of the above-mentioned *C. albicans* suspension was then added and incubated for 3 hours at 37°C with agitation. The growth inhibitory effect was calculated as described above.

SC extraction and incubation with RI

SC obtained from heels of healthy volunteers was extracted with 100 mM 2-(Nmorpholino) ethanesulfonic acid (MES) buffer pH 7.5 (Sigma-Aldrich). A ratio of 25 mg SC to 200 µl buffer was used. SC was homogenised in 1.5 ml tubes (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) with a micropestle (Eppendorf) on ice (1-2 minutes) and then incubated for 1 hour rotating at 4°C. Thereafter, tubes were centrifuged with 15000 *g* for 20 minutes at 4°C. Subsequently, the supernatant was aliquoted and stored at -20°C until analysis. Sterility was verified by plating extracts on blood agar. Protein concentrations of SC extracts were measured by the bicinchoninic acid method (BCA; Pierce, Rockford, IL).

10 µg SC extract were co-incubated with 20 units (U) recombinant human RI or 50 ng recombinant RNase 5 (R&D Systems) at 37°C with agitation. The final reaction volume was 30 µl. Aliquots of SC were pre-incubated for 90 minutes at 37°C with the following protease inhibitors: complete protease inhibitor cocktail (EDTA free), leupeptin, aprotinin (all from Roche Diagnostic), EDTA pH 7.5 (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) and GM6001 (Calbiochem, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA).

Western blot analysis

For analysis of RI expression, KC monolayer cultures were lyzed in 1% Nonidet P-40 (Igepal CA-630) (Sigma-Aldrich), and insoluble cell debris was removed by

centrifugation. The epidermis of skin biopsies was separated by dispase II (30 min 37°C; Roche Diagnostic) from the dermis. Afterwards epidermis and/or heel scales were quick-frozen with liquid nitrogen, ground in a mortar and suspended in 100 mM MES pH 7.5 and left rotating for 1 hour at 4°C. Thereafter, samples were centrifuged (15000 g for 20 minutes at 4° C) and the supernatant was aliquoted. The protein concentration was measured by the BCA method (Pierce). Western blot analysis was performed as described previously (Mildner et al., 2006). Equal loading of protein lysates was confirmed by Ponceau staining of the membrane. Rabbit anti-RI antibody was used for detection of RI protein (dilution 1:3000). A peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG antibody (dilution 1:10000, Pierce) was used as a secondary antibody. Mouse anti-caspase-14 (dilution 1:1000, MBL, Naka-ku Nagoya, Japan) was used for the detection of the proform and the active form of caspase-14 with a secondary peroxidase-conjugated sheep anti-mouse IgG antibody (dilution 1:10000, Amersham, Buckinghamshire, UK). For RNase 5 detection a polyclonal goat antibody (R&D Systems) and a secondary peroxidase-conjugated rabbit anti-goat (dilution 1:10000, Dako Cytomation) antibody were used. The membranes were developed using the Chemiglow reagent (Alpha Innotech, San Leandro, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Results

Epidermal KCs express RNases 1, 4, 5 and 7 as well as RI

To provide the basis for a better understanding of the potential roles of RNase-RI interactions in the skin, we determined the mRNA expression profile of RNases 1 to 8 and of RI in cultured epidermal KCs. RNases 1, 4, 5 and 7 as well as RI were detected by reverse transcription-PCR (RT-PCR) whereas other RNases were not. RNases 4, 5 and 7 were expressed in both proliferating (data not shown) and in differentiated KCs (Figure 1a). Differentiated KCs also expressed RNase 1 splice variants 2 (lower band, GenBank acc. no. NM198234) and 4 (upper band, GenBank acc. no. NM002933), which differ in the 5'-untranslated region but code for the same protein. For RNase 4, splice variant 2 (GenBank acc. no. NM002937) and for RNase 5, splice variant 1 (GenBank acc. no. NM001145) could be amplified (Figure 1a, upper panel). The identity of the PCR products was determined by direct sequencing and the integrity of the assays for RNases 2, 3, 6 and 8, which were not detected at the cDNA level, was confirmed by PCR amplification using genomic DNA as a template (Figure 1a, lower panel). The expression of RNases 9 to 13 was not investigated, since they do not have all elements to support ribonuclease activity (Dyer and Rosenberg, 2006).

Focusing on RNases with antimicrobial activities (Harder and Schröder, 2002; Hooper *et al.*, 2003), we investigated the regulation of RNase 5 and RNase 7 during KC differentiation. By quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR), we found that the expression of RNase 5 and RNase 7 mRNAs were up-regulated 4- and 9-fold, respectively, in differentiated cultures compared to proliferating KCs (Figure 1b, c). The concentrations of secreted RNase 5 and RNase 7 proteins were determined by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Culture medium conditioned by differentiated KCs for 24 hours contained approximately 4- and 6-fold higher levels of RNase 5 and RNase 7, respectively, than medium conditioned by proliferating cells (Figure 1d, e). Since the cell biomass, estimated by protein quantification, was elevated by only 1.7-fold (data not shown), these data show that the production of RNase 5 and RNase 7 was up-regulated during differentiation of KCs. The absolute concentration of secreted RNase 5 was smaller than that of RNase 7 (Figure 1d, e). Similarly, the amount of soluble RNase 5 that we could extract from SC of human heels, *i.e.* 57 \pm 38 pg per mg SC, was much smaller than the amount of RNase 7 that has been extracted from SC of different donors, *i.e.* up to 6000 pg per mg SC (Harder and Schröder, 2002).

RI is expressed in the epidermis but is absent in SC

We next investigated the expression of RI in human skin (*n*=5) by immunohistochemistry. RI was expressed in all viable layers of the epidermis, with the strongest expression being detectable in the uppermost layers of the epidermis. By contrast, RI immunoreactivity was not detectable in the SC (Figure 2a).

The expression of RI during KC differentiation *in vitro* was investigated by qRT-PCR and Western blot analysis. RI was up-regulated at both the mRNA (Figure 2b) and protein level (Figure 2c) in differentiated versus proliferating KCs.

RI blocks ribonuclease activity of SC as well as the antimicrobial activity of RNase 5 and RNase 7

In accordance with a previous report (Probst *et al.*, 2006), we readily detected ribonuclease activity in SC extracts. Addition of recombinant human RI virtually abrogated this activity, suggesting that the RNases of the SC can be bound and neutralized by RI (Figure 3a). Moreover, RI blocked the ribonuclease activity of recombinant RNase 5 and purified RNase 7 from SC *in vitro*, confirming the functionality of our proteins (Figure 3b).

Next we tested whether RI is also able to interfere with the antimicrobial activities of RNase 5 and RNase 7 against *C. albicans* and *E. faecium*, respectively (Hooper *et al.*, 2003; Harder and Schröder, 2002). In the absence of RI, antimicrobial activity of RNase 5 and RNase 7 strongly reduced the colony-forming units (CFUs) of *C. albicans* and *E. faecium*, respectively. Pre-incubation with RI strongly suppressed the antimicrobial activity of both RNases, whereas addition of RI alone had no effect on either microbe (Figure 4a, b). These results demonstrate, for the first time, that RI not only blocks ribonuclease activity but also suppresses the antimicrobial activity of RNase 7.

The antimicrobial effect of RNase 5 is blocked by chemical inhibitors of its ribonuclease activity

Since RI interacts with a large portion of the surface of target RNases (Papageorgiou *et al.*, 1997) and not specifically with the catalytic centre, the blockade of antimicrobial activities of RNase 5 and RNase 7 may be mediated by the interference with the RNase catalytic activity or by sterical blockade of a bactericidal

protein domain. The antimicrobial activity of RNase 7 is mediated by a cluster of lysine residues and does not depend on catalytic activity (Huang *et al.*, 2007). Amino acid sequence alignment showed that the residues critical for the antibacterial activity of RNase 7 are not conserved in RNase 5 (Figure S1). Therefore, we hypothesized that RNase 5 utilizes a different mechanism, possibly involving its ribonucleolytic activity to kill *Candida*. RNase 5 was pre-incubated with two chemical inhibitors of its ribonuclease activity, namely diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC) (Shapiro *et al.*, 1987) and benzopurpurin B (Jenkins and Shapiro, 2003). As expected, both substances inhibited the degradation of RNA by RNase 5 in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 5a, b). In close correlation with this blockade, both DEPC and benzopurpurin B also inhibited the candida-cidal activity of RNase 5 (Figure 5c, d), indicating that the antimicrobial effect of RNase 5 depends on its ribonucleolytic activity.

To further characterize the antimicrobial potential of RNase 5, we also tested *Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli*, methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), *Enterococcus faecium* and group A *Streptococcus* (GAS) for their sensitivity towards RNase 5 treatment. However, among the microorganisms investigated, RNase 5 was only effective at killing *C. albicans* (Figure S2). To evaluate whether enhancement of expression of RNase 5 might contribute to the control of its antimicrobial activity, KCs were stimulated with heat-inactivated *C. albicans* or with the proinflammatory cytokines, interleukin (IL)-1 α and IL-6. Neither treatment altered the expression of RNase 5 in KCs (Figure S3).

RI is degraded by SC extract

Since immunohistochemistry suggested that RI, although present in the viable epidermal layers, was absent from SC (Figure 2a), we extracted proteins from the total epidermis and from SC alone and performed Western blot analysis. RI was detected in lysates of the epidermis but, confirming the immunohistochemistry data, was absent in SC extracts (Figure 6a). The integrity of SC extract was confirmed by Western blot analysis of caspase-14, which was readily detectable in its mature form (Figure. 6a) (Fischer *et al.*, 2004).

The fact that only the viable layers of the epidermis but not the SC contained RI indicated the existence of a mechanism to eliminate RI during conversion of KCs into corneocytes. To investigate this hypothesis, recombinant human RI was co-incubated with SC extracts and then analyzed by Western blot. Under these conditions RI protein was degraded, with an intermediate cleavage product of RI being detectable (Figure 6b). Incubation of RI alone with the extraction buffer demonstrated stability of the protein under assay conditions. To investigate which types of enzymes are responsible for RI degradation, SC extracts were pre-treated with various protease inhibitors (*i.e.* aprotinin for serine proteases, leupeptin for thiol proteases, EDTA and GM6001 for metalloproteases, and a protease inhibitor cocktail (EDTA free) for serine and cysteine proteases) and then analyzed for their ability to degrade RI. The inhibitor cocktail as well as aprotinin and EDTA inhibited proteases from degrading RI (Figure 6b). Notably, EDTA was not effective at a concentration, that is considered sufficient to block metalloproteases, but only at a concentration, at which EDTA also interferes with the activity of some serine proteases (Beynon and Bond, 2001). The metalloprotease-specific inhibitor, GM6001, showed virtually no inhibition. This inhibition profile suggested that serine proteases are mainly accountable for RI

degradation by SC extracts. In contrast to RI, recombinant RNase 5 was stable when co-incubated with SC extracts (Figure S4).

Discussion

In this study, we have explored the expression of all functional members of the RNase A superfamily, as well as of RI in epidermal KCs and propose that differential breakdown of RI during SC formation contributes to the antimicrobial activity of the skin surface. Our expression screening showed that 4 members of the RNase A family are expressed by KCs. Two of these RNases, namely RNase 5 and RNase 7, act as antimicrobial proteins whereas no such activity has been reported for RNase 1 and RNase 4. This study is the first to demonstrate the presence of RNase 5 in human SC and thereby establishes another antimicrobial factor of the skin defense against microbes. Similar to RNase 7, RNase 5 was up-regulated during differentiation. However, proinflammatory or microbial inducers of expression could thus far be identified for RNase 7 only (Harder and Schröder, 2002). The rate of production of RNase 7 was approximately 5 times higher than that of RNase 5 in cultured KCs, and much higher amounts of RNase 7 than RNase 5 could be extracted from human SC, indicating that RNase 7 contributes more to the ribonucleolytic and antimicrobial activities of the skin surface. Nevertheless, it is conceivable that the local concentration of RNase 5, within distinct SC microcompartments may be sufficient for effective antimicrobial activity.

Importantly, the antimicrobial activity spectra of RNase 5 and RNase 7 appear to differ significantly. In particular, *C. albicans* is killed by low concentrations of RNase 5 (Hooper *et al.*, 2003); this study) but much less effectively by RNase 7 (Harder and Schröder, 2002) whereas several bacteria are killed by RNase 7 (Harder and

Schröder, 2002) and not by RNase 5 (this study). The relative contribution of RNase 5 to the innate immune defense of the skin, which is mediated by a plethora of peptides and other substances (Schröder and Harder, 2006), remains to be determined in future studies.

Our study provides the first characterization of endogenous RI in the epidermis and, importantly, extends its range of functions to the inhibition of RNase antimicrobial activities. Both the candida-cidal activity of RNase 5 and the enterococcus-cidal activity of RNase 7 were effectively blocked by recombinant RI. Previous reports have shown that RI suppresses the ribonuclease activity, which is low as compared to other members of the RNase A family, and the angiogenic activity of RNase 5 (Shapiro and Vallee, 1987; Maeda et al., 2002; Iver et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2007; Shapiro et al., 1986; Papageorgiou et al., 1997). Two small chemical substances, DEPC and benzopurpurin B, which inhibit the catalytic activity of RNase 5, also suppressed its antimicrobial activity. The binding site of benzopurpurin B on RNase 5 has been determined (Jenkins and Shapiro, 2003) whereas the various RNase 5 subsites, likely to be targeted by DEPC via modification of lysine and histidine residues, have not been investigated for their individual contribution to the inhibitory effect of DEPC. Therefore, it appears likely that RI suppresses the antimicrobial function of RNase 5 by inhibiting its catalytic centre. However, further studies using point-mutated variants of RNase 5 are required to substantiate this hypothesis.

Although the antimicrobial activity of RNase 7 does not depend on ribonucleolytic activity (Huang *et al.*, 2007), our data demonstrate that it is suppressed by RI. There are two possible explanations for this finding: (1) It is possible that RI, which has a horseshoe-like shape and binds RNases within its concave cavity, masks the amino acid residues responsible for antimicrobial action. (2) The interaction of RI with

RNase 1 has recently been shown to induce conformational changes of RNase 1 (Johnson *et al.*, 2007). Since the interaction of RI and RNase 7 is likely to occur in a similar manner, a conformational change might also abrogate the antimicrobial activity of RNase 7.

The finding that RI is expressed strongly in the uppermost layers of the epidermis but is absent in SC and the fact that SC contains ribonuclease activity and antimicrobial activity of RNase 7 (Harder and Schröder, 2002), indicated that a physiological mechanism exists to prevent inhibition of skin surface ribonuclease functions. In support of this hypothesis, the results of our co-incubation experiments using recombinant RI and SC extract showed degradation of RI. Our finding that aprotinin blocked the degradation of RI indicates that this breakdown is mediated by serine proteases such as SCTE (stratum corneum tryptic enzyme, kallikrein5) or SCCE (stratum corneum chymotryptic protease, kallikrein7). EDTA, which scavenges divalent cations, also blocked the reaction, however, only when it was used at a concentration higher than that required to block metalloproteases but sufficient to also inhibit some serine proteases (Beynon and Bond, 2001). Further studies are necessary to determine the molecular identity of the RI-degrading protease(s).

The proteolysis of RI by SC proteases establishes a role of proteases in the antimicrobial defense function of the skin. Conceptually, this control mechanism resembles the control of the pro-apopototic DNase CAD/DFFB by the inhibitor ICAD/DFFA. ICAD inhibits CAD unless it is cleaved by the cysteine protease caspase-3 (Sakahira *et al.*, 1998). It remains to be investigated whether proteolysis of RI enhances the breakdown of cellular RNAs during differentiation-associated programmed cell death of KCs. Irrespective of this potential role in cellular remodelling, breakdown of RI appears to facilitate the activities of RNase after corneocyte formation. A more direct dependence on proteases of protein activation in

the SC has been demonstrated for cathelicidin, which is converted to the antimicrobial peptide LL-37 by the action of the serine proteases kallikrein 5 (SCTE) and kallikrein 7 (SCCE) (Yamasaki *et al.*, 2006). The processing of cathelicidin by these proteases does not require a distinct stimulus and leads to the constitutive presence of LL-37 on the skin surface (Yamasaki *et al.*, 2006). Similarly, the proteolytic degradation of RI is likely to occur in a constitutive manner. Taken together, the disturbance of SC proteolytic activities, either caused by genetic defects or environmental influences, may compromise antimicrobial skin defence.

In summary, this study identifies RNase 5 as a component of the innate immune system of the skin and reveals a novel level of regulation of antimicrobial RNases in human SC, *i.e.* the removal of their inhibitor by proteases.

Figures



Figure 1. KCs express RNases 1, 4, 5 and 7 as well as RI.

Total RNA was isolated from proliferating (prolif.) and differentiated (diff.) human KC cultures and reverse-transcribed to cDNA. (a) cDNAs of differentiated KCs were amplified by PCRs specific for RNases 1 through 8 and for RI. Amplicons were separated on a 1.5% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide. To confirm the efficiency of each PCR, reactions with the same primer combinations were performed on genomic DNA. In these control reactions, exonic and intronic sequences of all genes except RNases 4 and 5, in which the primer annealing sites are separated by a long intron, were successfully amplified (lower panel). RNase 5 (b) and RNase 7 (c) expression in KCs was determined by qRT-PCR. Relative gene expression levels were normalized to the expression of the housekeeping gene ALAS. The mean values of the expression levels relative to the expression level in proliferating cells are displayed. Secretion of RNase 5 (d) and RNase 7 (e) of proliferating and differentiated KCs was determined by ELISAs. Data represent the mean ± SD. bp, base pair.



Figure 2. RI is expressed in the epidermis and in cultured KCs.

(a) RI was detected by immunohistochemistry in normal human skin. An isotype antibody was used as negative control (ctrl.). The outer border of the SC is marked by a dotted line. Bars=40 μ m. (b) qRT-PCR of RI in proliferating (prolif.) and differentiated (diff.) KCs. Relative gene expression levels were normalized to the expression of the housekeeping gene ALAS. Data represent the mean ± SD. (c) Western blot analysis of RI in proliferating and differentiated KCs (left panel). Ponceau staining of the membrane served as loading control of protein lysates (right panel). MW, molecular weight; RI, ribonuclease inhibitor.



Figure 3. Ribonuclease activities of SC extract, RNase 5 and RNase 7 are blocked by RI.

(a) SC extract (30 ng), (b) RNase 5 (25 ng) and RNase 7 (5 ng) were pre-incubated with or without RI (30 U for SC extract and 40 U for RNase 5 and RNase 7). Subsequently, the mixtures were incubated with total RNA (1.5 μg) prepared from KCs as described in the Materials and Methods section. Thereafter samples were electrophoresed through an RNase-free agarose gel containing ethidium bromide. Positions of the 28S, 18S, 5S rRNA bands are indicated. U, units.



Figure 4. RI inhibits antimicrobial activity of RNase 5 and RNase 7.

(a) RNase 5 (0.2 μ M) or (b) RNase 7 (0.33 μ M) were incubated with and without RI (40 and 20 U for RNase 5 and RNase 7, respectively) and then tested for their ability to inhibit the growth of *C. albicans* or *E. faecium*, respectively. In addition, *C. albicans* or *E. faecium* were treated with buffer and RI only. The results are displayed as percent of remaining CFUs in relation to untreated controls (100%). Data represent the mean of triplicates ± SD. CFU, colony-forming units.

a



Figure 5. Antimicrobial effect of RNase 5 depends on its ribonuclease activity.

(a) Ribonuclease activity of RNase 5 (0.6 μ M) was tested in the presence of diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC) or (b) benzopurpurin B (BP) as described in the Materials and Methods section. Positions of the 28S, 18S, 5S rRNA bands are indicated. (c) RNase 5 (0.2 μ M) was pre-incubated with DEPC or (d) BP and thereafter tested for its ability to inhibit the growth of *C. albicans*. The results are displayed as percent of remaining CFUs in relation to only DEPC or BP treated controls (100%). Data represent the mean of triplicates ± SD.



b

			aprotinin			leupeptin			EDTA			GM6001			complete			
prot. inhib.:	- -	- -	1 ⊥	10 上	100 	1	10 	100 _	1 ⊥	10 上	100 上	1 ⊥	10 ⊥	100 	1x ⊥	2x ⊥	3x ⊥	
SC extract:	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	MW (kDa)
RI 🛶	_		-	-	-											-	HER	- 55
c-RI →	~	1	Read Room	-	-	1	Para	A series	in the second	Road	(men	-	1	1 4	-	-	-	- 36

Figure 6. RI is absent in the SC and is degraded by SC extract.

(a) Epidermis and SC were extracted as described in the Materials and Methods section and subjected to Western blot analysis for RI and caspase-14 (C14). Positions of a molecular weight (MW) marker are indicated on the right. Note that the SC contains only the mature form of caspase-14 (Fischer *et al.*, 2004) whereas both pro-caspase-14 (pro-C14) and mature caspase-14 are present in total epidermis. (b) SC extract were pre-incubated with increasing concentrations (1 to 100 μ M) of the protease inhibitors aprotinin, leupeptin, EDTA, GM6001 or complete protease inhibitor cocktail, EDTA free (complete; 1x to 3x) and subsequently incubated with RI, as described in the Materials and Methods section. RI was detected by Western blot analysis. prot. inhib., protease inhibitor. c-RI, cleaved RI protein.

а

RNase5	MVMGLGVLLLVFVLGLGLTPPTLAQDNSRYTHFLTQHYDAKPQGRDDRYCESIM	54
	G LLL+ +LGL + ++ T F QH PQ C S M	
RNase7	MAPARAGFCPLLLLLLGLWVAEIPVSAKPKGMTSSQWFKIQHMQPSPQACNSAM	55
DNAGA		100
RNases	RRRGL-ISPCKDINIFIHGNRRSIKAICENKNGNPHRENLRISKSSFQVIICKLH	T08
	+ 1 CKD+NIF+H S+ A C+ KNG+ +N S + +1 CKL	
RNase7	KNINKHTKRCKDLNTFLHEPFSSVAATCQTPKIACKNGDKNCHQSHGAVSLTMCKLT	117
RNase5	GGSPWPPCOYRATAGERNVVVACENGLPVHLDOSIERP	147
11100000	G + P C + Y + + VVAC + + + PVHLD+	
PNago7		156
ITTURDE /		T 0 0

Figure S1. Amino acid sequence alignment of RNase 5 and RNase 7.

Residues critical for the antimicrobial activity of RNase 7 (Huang *et al.*, 2007) are shown as white letters on black background. The signal peptide of RNase 5, which is missing in the mature protein, is underlined.



Figure S2. Antimicrobial activity of RNase 5 against potential skin pathogens.

Antimicrobial activity of increasing concentrations of RNase 5 was tested against Gram-positive (*E. faecium*, GAS and MRSA) and Gram-negative (*P. aeruginosa* and *E. coli*) bacteria and the yeast *C. albicans*. Data represent the mean of triplicates \pm SD.



Figure S3. RNase 5 and/or RI are not induced by IL-1α, IL-6 or *C. albicans*.

Proliferating KCs were stimulated for 6, 12 and 24 hours (h) with (a) IL-1 α or IL-6 (both at 10 ng/ml) and (b) with heat-inactivated *C. albicans* (10⁷ CFUs/ml). After stimulation RNA was isolated and the relative gene expressions of RNase 5, RI and/or human beta defensin-2 (hBD-2) were determined by qRT-PCR. Relative gene expression levels were normalized to the expression of the housekeeping gene ALAS. Data represent the mean ± SD. The induction of hBD-2 in (a) served as a control response to IL-1 α and IL-6 stimulation.



Figure S4. RNase 5 is not degraded by SC extract.

RNase 5 (50 ng) was incubated with and without SC (10 μ g protein) extract for the indicated times and detected by Western blot analysis.
Conflict of interest

The authors state no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Jan Hofsteenge (Friedrich Miescher-Institut, Basel, Switzerland) for providing the anti-RI antibody and Robert Shapiro for helpful advice and for providing benzopurpurin B. We also thank the anonymous reviewers for suggestions that were essential to improve the manuscript. We are grateful to Veronika Mlitz, Florian Gruber, Christine Poitschek, Awaz Uthman, Heinz Fischer and Heidemarie Rossiter for helpful discussions and technical support. A part of this work was supported by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (SFB 617).

References

Abtin A, Eckhart L, Mildner M, Gruber F, Schröder JM, Tschachler E (2008). Flagellin is the principal inducer of the antimicrobial peptide S100A7c (psoriasin) in human epidermal keratinocytes exposed to Escherichia coli. *FASEB J* **22**: 2168-2176.

Beynon R, Bond JS (2001). *Proteolytic Enzymes: A Practical Approch, 2nd ed.* Oxford University Press.

Blazquez M, Fominaya JM, Hofsteenge J (1996). Oxidation of sulfhydryl groups of ribonuclease inhibitor in epithelial cells is sufficient for its intracellular degradation. *J Biol Chem* **271**: 18638-18642.

Domachowske JB, Dyer KD, Bonville CA, Rosenberg HF (1998). Recombinant human eosinophil-derived neurotoxin/RNase 2 functions as an effective antiviral agent against respiratory syncytial virus. *J Infect Dis* **177**: 1458-1464.

Domachowske JB, Rosenberg HF (1997). Eosinophils inhibit retroviral transduction of human target cells by a ribonuclease-dependent mechanism. *J Leukoc Biol* **62**: 363-368.

Dyer KD, Rosenberg HF (2006). The RNase a superfamily: generation of diversity and innate host defense. *Mol Divers* **10**: 585-597.

Fett JW, Strydom DJ, Lobb RR, Alderman EM, Bethune JL, Riordan JF *et al.* (1985). Isolation and characterization of angiogenin, an angiogenic protein from human carcinoma cells. *Biochemistry* **24**: 5480-5486.

Fischer H, Stichenwirth M, Dockal M, Ghannadan M, Buchberger M, Bach J *et al.* (2004). Stratum corneum-derived caspase-14 is catalytically active. *FEBS Lett* **577**: 446-450.

Hamann KJ, Gleich GJ, Checkel JL, Loegering DA, McCall JW, Barker RL (1990). In vitro killing of microfilariae of Brugia pahangi and Brugia malayi by eosinophil granule proteins. *J Immunol* **144**: 3166-3173.

Harder J, Schröder JM (2002). RNase 7, a novel innate immune defense antimicrobial protein of healthy human skin. *J Biol Chem* **277**: 46779-46784.

Hooper LV, Stappenbeck TS, Hong CV, Gordon JI (2003). Angiogenins: a new class of microbicidal proteins involved in innate immunity. *Nat Immunol* **4**: 269-273.

Huang YC, Lin YM, Chang TW, Wu SJ, Lee YS, Chang MD *et al.* (2007). The flexible and clustered lysine residues of human ribonuclease 7 are critical for membrane permeability and antimicrobial activity. *J Biol Chem* **282**: 4626-4633.

Iyer S, Holloway DE, Kumar K, Shapiro R, Acharya KR (2005). Molecular recognition of human eosinophil-derived neurotoxin (RNase 2) by placental ribonuclease inhibitor. *J Mol Biol* **347**: 637-655.

Jenkins JL, Shapiro R (2003). Identification of small-molecule inhibitors of human angiogenin and characterization of their binding interactions guided by computational docking. *Biochemistry* **42**: 6674-6687.

Johnson RJ, McCoy JG, Bingman CA, Phillips GN, Jr., Raines RT (2007). Inhibition of human pancreatic ribonuclease by the human ribonuclease inhibitor protein. *J Mol Biol* **368**: 434-449.

Kobe B, Deisenhofer J (1993). Crystal structure of porcine ribonuclease inhibitor, a protein with leucine-rich repeats. *Nature* **366**: 751-756.

Lehrer RI, Szklarek D, Barton A, Ganz T, Hamann KJ, Gleich GJ (1989). Antibacterial properties of eosinophil major basic protein and eosinophil cationic protein. *J Immunol* **142**: 4428-4434.

Leland PA, Raines RT (2001). Cancer chemotherapy--ribonucleases to the rescue. *Chem Biol* **8**: 405-413.

Maeda T, Mahara K, Kitazoe M, Futami J, Takidani A, Kosaka M *et al.* (2002). RNase 3 (ECP) is an extraordinarily stable protein among human pancreatic-type RNases. *J Biochem* **132**: 737-742.

Mildner M, Ballaun C, Stichenwirth M, Bauer R, Gmeiner R, Buchberger M *et al.* (2006). Gene silencing in a human organotypic skin model. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **348**: 76-82.

Molina HA, Kierszenbaum F, Hamann KJ, Gleich GJ (1988). Toxic effects produced or mediated by human eosinophil granule components on Trypanosoma cruzi. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **38**: 327-334.

Papageorgiou AC, Shapiro R, Acharya KR (1997). Molecular recognition of human angiogenin by placental ribonuclease inhibitor--an X-ray crystallographic study at 2.0 A resolution. *EMBO J* **16**: 5162-5177.

Pfaffl MW (2001). A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res* **29**: e45.

Probst J, Brechtel S, Scheel B, Hoerr I, Jung G, Rammensee HG *et al.* (2006). Characterization of the ribonuclease activity on the skin surface. *Genet Vaccines Ther* **4**: 4.

Rendl M, Ban J, Mrass P, Mayer C, Lengauer B, Eckhart L *et al.* (2002). Caspase-14 expression by epidermal keratinocytes is regulated by retinoids in a differentiation-associated manner. *J Invest Dermatol* **119**: 1150-1155.

Rendl M, Mayer C, Weninger W, Tschachler E (2001). Topically applied lactic acid increases spontaneous secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor by human reconstructed epidermis. *Br J Dermatol* **145**: 3-9.

Rudolph B, Podschun R, Sahly H, Schubert S, Schröder JM, Harder J (2006). Identification of RNase 8 as a novel human antimicrobial protein. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **50**: 3194-3196. Sakahira H, Enari M, Nagata S (1998). Cleavage of CAD inhibitor in CAD activation and DNA degradation during apoptosis. *Nature* **391**: 96-99.

Schröder JM, Harder J (2006). Antimicrobial skin peptides and proteins. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **63**: 469-486.

Shapiro R, Fett JW, Strydom DJ, Vallee BL (1986). Isolation and characterization of a human colon carcinoma-secreted enzyme with pancreatic ribonuclease-like activity. *Biochemistry* **25**: 7255-7264.

Shapiro R, Vallee BL (1987). Human placental ribonuclease inhibitor abolishes both angiogenic and ribonucleolytic activities of angiogenin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **84**: 2238-2241.

Shapiro R, Weremowicz S, Riordan JF, Vallee BL (1987). Ribonucleolytic activity of angiogenin: essential histidine, lysine, and arginine residues. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **84**: 8783-8787.

Steigleder GK, Raab WP (1962). The localization of ribonuclease and deoxyribonuclease activities in normal and psoriatic epidermis. *J Invest Dermatol* **38**: 209-214.

Tabachnick J, Freed R (1961). Demonstration of nucleases on mammalian skin surface and in saline extracts of hair. *Nature* **190**: 921-922.

Yamasaki K, Schauber J, Coda A, Lin H, Dorschner RA, Schechter NM *et al.* (2006). Kallikrein-mediated proteolysis regulates the antimicrobial effects of cathelicidins in skin. *FASEB J* **20**: 2068-2080.

5. Discussion

5.1. The role of flagellin in S100A7c expression by KCs.

S100A7c has been found to be expressed in patchy pattern in the epidermis (Gläser et al., 2005; Schröder and Harder, 2006), indicating that it may be up-regulated by external substances entering the epidermis through microwounds. However, distinct exogenous molecular triggers of S100A7c have remained elusive. Our demonstration that flagellin induces S100A7c strongly supports the concept that the expression of S100A7c is indeed positively up-regulated in response to bacteria. The finding that flagellin but no other bacterial components trigger S100A7c expression makes physiological sense, because the most potent antimicrobial activity of S100A7c is directed to *E. coli*, a flagellated bacterium (Gläser et al., 2005). Our results show that S100A7c is induced by concentrations of flagellin that are only slightly higher than those necessary for the induction of hBD-2, another antimicrobial peptide. Although it is difficult to estimate the concentration of flagellin on the skin surface, it is likely that any focal growth of flagellated bacteria will be associated with sufficiently high concentration of flagellin. Nevertheless, the relevance of flagellin in the induction of S100A7c and hBD-2 remain to be investigated *in vivo*.

The potent *E. coli*-cidal activity of S100A7c might explain the inability of *E. coli* in colonizing healthy human skin. Indeed, an important *in vivo* function of S100A7c has demonstrated that *E. coli* is effectively killed on human skin and that this killing activity was reduced by a neutralizing antibody to S100A7c *in vivo* (Gläser et al., 2005). Gene-deficient murine models have demonstrated that lack of a single antimicrobial peptide makes mice more susceptible to infections. For example, mice deficient in the expression of CRAMP (the mouse homologue to the human cathelicidin) were more susceptible to skin infections caused by group A *Streptococcus* (GAS) (Nizet et al., 2001). These mice were also

susceptible to urinary tract infections caused by uropathogenic *E. coli* (Chromek et al., 2006).

A key result was the demonstration that flagellin expression by *E. coli* strain was associated with the regulation of S100A7c. We show that a flagellin-deficient *E. coli* strain (Δ FliC) was unable to up-regulate the expression of S100A7c compared to wild-type strain. The finding that flagellin induces S100A7c expression and the data observed with the flagellin-deficient *E. coli* strain strongly suggest that flagellin is the only relevant *E. coli* component accountable for S100A7c stimulation in KCs.

With regard to possible mechanisms, we have identified the flagellin receptor TLR5 as an essential element of sensory and signaling system for *E. coli*. By using RNA interference technology, knock-down of TLR5 in KCs dramatically reduced responsiveness to *E. coli*, suggesting that the presence of *E. coli* is recognized by TLR5 and therefore a successful elimination is TLR5-dependent. In line with this concept, the significance of TLR5 for *E. coli* recognition was demonstrated in a murine model *in vivo* (Andersen-Nissen et al., 2007; Uematsu et al., 2006) where $Tlr5^{-/}$ mice were more susceptible to urinary tract infections caused by uropathogenic *E. coli* compared to wild-type mice (Andersen-Nissen et al., 2007).

Our data on the regulation of S100A7c extend the range of inducers of S100A7c in KCs. Previously, the cytokines IL-1 β , TNF- α , IFN- γ (Gläser et al., 2005), IL-6, IL-17, IL-20, IL-22, IL-24 and oncostatin M (Boniface et al., 2007), as well as late states of KC differentiation (Martinsson et al., 2005) have been shown to enhance the expression level of S100A7c. Therefore, the role of flagellin in the control of S100A7c needs to be further evaluated in the combination with other factors, many of which may be highly relevant in the context of cutaneous wounds. Unfortunately, the TLR5 knockout mouse (Uematsu et al., 2006) is not a suitable model system because mice lack a *S100A7* gene (Hahn et al., 2007). Since *S100A7* and *S100A15* have evolved from a common ancestral gene (Hahn et al., 2007).

al., 2007) which may have had antimicrobial activity and it is conceivable that S100A15 fulfils an equivalent role in the mouse as S100A7 in humans, the regulation of S100A15 may serve as a model to study the concept of cutaneous defense against bacteria. Ultimately, the antimicrobial function and the regulation of S100A7 remain to be tested in humans or primates.

In conclusion, the first part of the dissertation sheds light on the mechanism by which KCs sense and respond to the presence of *E. coli*. We show that a single bacterial component, *i.e.* flagellin is essential and sufficient to induce the up-regulation of the antibacterial defense protein S100A7c, which is able to kill *E. coli*. Since *E. coli* is to be considered a model for flagellated Gram-negative bacteria, including skin pathogens such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Schröder and Harder, 2006), our results provide important new insights into the cutaneous antimicrobial defense system.

5.2. SC proteolytic activity in establishing RNase-dependent antimicrobial functions.

The microbial defensive function of the skin is partly mediated by antimicrobial peptides such as human β -defensins, S100A7c, cathelicidin and also by RNase 7 a member of the RNase A superfamily (Schröder and Harder, 2006). In the second part of the dissertation, we explored the expression of all functional members of the RNase A superfamily as well as of RI in epidermal KCs. Our expression screening showed that 4 members of the RNase A family namly RNases 1, 4, 5 and the previously described RNase 7 are expressed by KCs. Two of this RNases *i.e.* RNase 5 and RNase 7 act as antimicrobial peptides, but until now no such activity has been described for RNase 1 and RNase 4.

This study is the first to demonstrate the presence of RNase 5 in human SC and thereby establishes another antimicrobial factor of the skin defense against microbes. The relative contribution of RNase 5 to the antimicrobial defense of the skin needs to be evaluated in further studies. The higher concentration of RNase 7 in SC compared to RNase 5 [4000 pg/mg SC (Harder and Schröder, 2002) vs. 60 pg/mg SC (our study)] suggests a prominent role in skin defense for RNase 7. Nevertheless, it is conceivable that local concentrations of RNase 5 might be sufficiently high for effective antimicrobial activity; especially against *C. albicans* which is sensitive to RNase 5 in very low micromolar concentrations (Hooper et al., 2003). However, RNase 5 is a multifunctional protein with ribonuclease, microbicidal and angiogenic properties but its key function in the skin has to be investigated in future studies.

Our study provides the first characterization of endogenous RI in the epidermis and, importantly, extends its range of functions to the inhibition of RNase antimicrobial activities. RI suppresses ribonuclease activities of RNases (lyer et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2007), but also contributes to intracellular redox homeostasis (Monti et al., 2007). The finding that RI is expressed strongly in the uppermost layers of the epidermis but is absent in SC and the fact that SC contains ribonuclease and antimicrobial activity indicate that a physiological mechanism may exists to prevent inhibition of skin surface ribonuclease and probably antimicrobial functions. In support with this hypothesis, co-incubation of recombinant RI with SC extract led to degradation of RI. This degradation could be blocked by the serineprotease inhibitor aprotinin. Furthermore, it needs to be considered RI can also be predisposed to degradation, at least within the intracellular environment, by oxidation of its thiol groups (Blazquez et al., 1996). Oxidation of RI at the skin surface may contribute to the inactivation of RI.

The significance of RI degradation was underlined with an *in vitro* experiment where the antimicrobial functionality of RNase 5 and RNase 7 were assessed in the presence of

RI. Interestingly, RI not only blocked the ribonuclease activity of these RNases, but also strongly suppressed their antimicrobial activity as well, indicating that presence of active RI in SC would interfere with the natural innate immune defense of skin-derived RNases. The inhibition of antimicrobial action by RI might be explained by conformational interaction of enzyme-inhibitor complex. RI has a horseshoe-shape structure and binds RNases within its concave cavity. Hence, it is likely that RI covers residues (active sites) responsible for antimicrobial action may lead to inactivity of this function. Although it has been reported that ribonuclease activity of RNases is not essential for their antimicrobial properties (Dyer and Rosenberg, 2006; Huang et al., 2007), it is possible that RI, covers active sites for both functions. Alternatively or in addition, the recently reported ability of RI to induce conformational changes of RNase 1 upon formation of a complex with this protein (Johnson et al., 2007) might suggest that conformations of RNase 5 and RNase 7 which are incompatible with antimicrobial activity, may be induced by RI.

The proteolysis of RI by SC proteases establishes an indirect role of proteases in the antimicrobial defense function of the skin. A direct dependence on proteases of protein activation in the SC has been demonstrated for cathelicidin, which is converted to the active antimicrobial peptide LL-37 by the action of the serine proteases kallikrein 5 and kallikrein 7 (Yamasaki et al., 2006). This suggests a two steps processing for an efficient antimicrobial activity of cathelicidin. The first step is on transcriptional level where the cathelicidin gene is transcribed and then translated to its protein precursor hCAP18, the second step appears on post-translational level with the enzymatic modification of the precursor to the active antimicrobial LL-37. A similar mechanism might be considered for the activity of RNase 7 and/or RNase 5 where RI is degraded on post-translational level by the enzymatic activity of SC proteases on human skin.

Taken together, these studies help us to better understand the finely regulated balance of SC enzymatic activities and its functionality. The disturbance of SC proteolytic activities,

either caused by genetic defects or environmental influences, may compromise antimicrobial skin defense.

6. References

Ackerman,S.J., Gleich,G.J., Loegering,D.A., Richardson,B.A., and Butterworth,A.E. (1985). Comparative toxicity of purified human eosinophil granule cationic proteins for schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. *34*, 735-745.

Agerberth,B., Charo,J., Werr,J., Olsson,B., Idali,F., Lindbom,L., Kiessling,R., Jornvall,H., Wigzell,H., and Gudmundsson,G.H. (2000). The human antimicrobial and chemotactic peptides LL-37 and alpha-defensins are expressed by specific lymphocyte and monocyte populations. Blood *96*, 3086-3093.

Ahmad-Nejad, P., Mrabet-Dahbi, S., Breuer, K., Klotz, M., Werfel, T., Herz, U., Heeg, K., Neumaier, M., and Renz, H. (2004). The toll-like receptor 2 R753Q polymorphism defines a subgroup of patients with atopic dermatitis having severe phenotype. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *113*, 565-567.

Akira,S. and Hemmi,H. (2003). Recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns by TLR family. Immunol. Lett. *85*, 85-95.

Akira, S. and Takeda, K. (2004). Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *4*, 499-511.

Akira, S., Uematsu, S., and Takeuchi, O. (2006). Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell *124*, 783-801.

Ali,R.S., Falconer,A., Ikram,M., Bissett,C.E., Cerio,R., and Quinn,A.G. (2001). Expression of the peptide antibiotics human beta defensin-1 and human beta defensin-2 in normal human skin. J. Invest Dermatol. *117*, 106-111.

Andersen-Nissen, E., Hawn, T.R., Smith, K.D., Nachman, A., Lampano, A.E., Uematsu, S., Akira, S., and Aderem, A. (2007). Cutting Edge: Tlr5-/- Mice Are More Susceptible to Escherichia coli Urinary Tract Infection. J. Immunol. *178*, 4717-4720.

Baker,B.S., Ovigne,J.M., Powles,A.V., Corcoran,S., and Fry,L. (2003). Normal keratinocytes express Toll-like receptors (TLRs) 1, 2 and 5: modulation of TLR expression in chronic plaque psoriasis. Br. J. Dermatol. *148*, 670-679.

Bals,R., Wang,X., Wu,Z., Freeman,T., Bafna,V., Zasloff,M., and Wilson,J.M. (1998). Human beta-defensin 2 is a salt-sensitive peptide antibiotic expressed in human lung. J. Clin. Invest *102*, 874-880.

Bals, R. and Wilson, J.M. (2003). Cathelicidins--a family of multifunctional antimicrobial peptides. Cell Mol. Life Sci. *60*, 711-720.

Benov,L., Chang,L.Y., Day,B., and Fridovich,I. (1995). Copper, zinc superoxide dismutase in Escherichia coli: periplasmic localization. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. *319*, 508-511.

Benov,L., Sage,H., and Fridovich,I. (1997). The copper- and zinc-containing superoxide dismutase from Escherichia coli: molecular weight and stability. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. *340*, 305-310.

Bensch,K.W., Raida,M., Magert,H.J., Schulz-Knappe,P., and Forssmann,W.G. (1995). hBD-1: a novel beta-defensin from human plasma. FEBS Lett. *368*, 331-335.

Blazquez,M., Fominaya,J.M., and Hofsteenge,J. (1996). Oxidation of sulfhydryl groups of ribonuclease inhibitor in epithelial cells is sufficient for its intracellular degradation. J. Biol. Chem. *271*, 18638-18642.

Bolognia J.L., Jorizzo J.L., and Rapini R.P. (2008). Dermatology. Mosby).

Boniface,K., Diveu,C., Morel,F., Pedretti,N., Froger,J., Ravon,E., Garcia,M., Venereau,E., Preisser,L., Guignouard,E., Guillet,G., Dagregorio,G., Pene,J., Moles,J.P., Yssel,H., Chevalier,S., Bernard,F.X., Gascan,H., and Lecron,J.C. (2007). Oncostatin M Secreted by Skin Infiltrating T Lymphocytes Is a Potent Keratinocyte Activator Involved in Skin Inflammation. J. Immunol. *178*, 4615-4622.

Buchau,A.S., Hassan,M., Kukova,G., Lewerenz,V., Kellermann,S., Wurthner,J.U., Wolf,R., Walz,M., Gallo,R.L., and Ruzicka,T. (2007). S100A15, an Antimicrobial Protein of the Skin: Regulation by E. coli through Toll-Like Receptor 4. J. Invest Dermatol.

Chertov,O., Michiel,D.F., Xu,L., Wang,J.M., Tani,K., Murphy,W.J., Longo,D.L., Taub,D.D., and Oppenheim,J.J. (1996). Identification of defensin-1, defensin-2, and CAP37/azurocidin as T-cell chemoattractant proteins released from interleukin-8-stimulated neutrophils. J. Biol. Chem. *271*, 2935-2940.

Chromek,M., Slamova,Z., Bergman,P., Kovacs,L., Podracka,L., Ehren,I., Hokfelt,T., Gudmundsson,G.H., Gallo,R.L., Agerberth,B., and Brauner,A. (2006). The antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin protects the urinary tract against invasive bacterial infection. Nat. Med. *12*, 636-641.

Cole,A.M., Liao,H.I., Stuchlik,O., Tilan,J., Pohl,J., and Ganz,T. (2002). Cationic polypeptides are required for antibacterial activity of human airway fluid. J. Immunol. *169*, 6985-6991.

Cunliffe, R.N. (2003). Alpha-defensins in the gastrointestinal tract. Mol. Immunol. *40*, 463-467.

Curry, J.L., Qin, J.Z., Bonish, B., Carrick, R., Bacon, P., Panella, J., Robinson, J., and Nickoloff, B.J. (2003). Innate immune-related receptors in normal and psoriatic skin. Arch. Pathol. Lab Med. *127*, 178-186.

Dale,B.A. and Krisanaprakornkit,S. (2001). Defensin antimicrobial peptides in the oral cavity. J. Oral Pathol. Med. *30*, 321-327.

De,Y., Chen,Q., Schmidt,A.P., Anderson,G.M., Wang,J.M., Wooters,J., Oppenheim,J.J., and Chertov,O. (2000). LL-37, the neutrophil granule- and epithelial cell-derived cathelicidin, utilizes formyl peptide receptor-like 1 (FPRL1) as a receptor to chemoattract human peripheral blood neutrophils, monocytes, and T cells. J. Exp. Med. *192*, 1069-1074.

Domachowske, J.B., Dyer, K.D., Bonville, C.A., and Rosenberg, H.F. (1998). Recombinant human eosinophil-derived neurotoxin/RNase 2 functions as an effective antiviral agent against respiratory syncytial virus. J. Infect. Dis. *177*, 1458-1464.

Donato, R. (2001). S100: a multigenic family of calcium-modulated proteins of the EF-hand type with intracellular and extracellular functional roles. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. *33*, 637-668.

Dorschner,R.A., Pestonjamasp,V.K., Tamakuwala,S., Ohtake,T., Rudisill,J., Nizet,V., Agerberth,B., Gudmundsson,G.H., and Gallo,R.L. (2001). Cutaneous injury induces the release of cathelicidin anti-microbial peptides active against group A Streptococcus. J. Invest Dermatol. *117*, 91-97.

Dunsche, A., Acil, Y., Siebert, R., Harder, J., Schröder, J.M., and Jepsen, S. (2001). Expression profile of human defensins and antimicrobial proteins in oral tissues. J. Oral Pathol. Med. *30*, 154-158.

Dyer,K.D. and Rosenberg,H.F. (2006). The RNase a superfamily: generation of diversity and innate host defense. Mol. Divers. *10*, 585-597.

Ellison, R.T., III and Giehl, T.J. (1991). Killing of gram-negative bacteria by lactoferrin and lysozyme. J. Clin. Invest *88*, 1080-1091.

Fellermann,K. and Stange,E.F. (2001). Defensins -- innate immunity at the epithelial frontier. Eur. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. *13*, 771-776.

Fett,J.W., Strydom,D.J., Lobb,R.R., Alderman,E.M., Bethune,J.L., Riordan,J.F., and Vallee,B.L. (1985). Isolation and characterization of angiogenin, an angiogenic protein from human carcinoma cells. Biochemistry *24*, 5480-5486.

Frohm,M., Agerberth,B., Ahangari,G., Stahle-Backdahl,M., Liden,S., Wigzell,H., and Gudmundsson,G.H. (1997). The expression of the gene coding for the antibacterial peptide LL-37 is induced in human keratinocytes during inflammatory disorders. J. Biol. Chem. *272*, 15258-15263.

Fulton, C., Anderson, G.M., Zasloff, M., Bull, R., and Quinn, A.G. (1997). Expression of natural peptide antibiotics in human skin. Lancet *350*, 1750-1751.

Gallo,R.L., Kim,K.J., Bernfield,M., Kozak,C.A., Zanetti,M., Merluzzi,L., and Gennaro,R. (1997). Identification of CRAMP, a cathelin-related antimicrobial peptide expressed in the embryonic and adult mouse. J. Biol. Chem. *27*2, 13088-13093.

Ganz, T. (2003). Defensins: antimicrobial peptides of innate immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *3*, 710-720.

Ganz, T. and Lehrer, R.I. (1997). Antimicrobial peptides of leukocytes. Curr. Opin. Hematol. *4*, 53-58.

Garcia,J.R., Jaumann,F., Schulz,S., Krause,A., Rodriguez-Jimenez,J., Forssmann,U., Adermann,K., Kluver,E., Vogelmeier,C., Becker,D., Hedrich,R., Forssmann,W.G., and Bals,R. (2001a). Identification of a novel, multifunctional beta-defensin (human beta-defensin 3) with specific antimicrobial activity. Its interaction with plasma membranes of Xenopus oocytes and the induction of macrophage chemoattraction. Cell Tissue Res. *306*, 257-264.

Garcia, J.R., Krause, A., Schulz, S., Rodriguez-Jimenez, F.J., Kluver, E., Adermann, K., Forssmann, U., Frimpong-Boateng, A., Bals, R., and Forssmann, W.G. (2001b). Human beta-defensin 4: a novel inducible peptide with a specific salt-sensitive spectrum of antimicrobial activity. FASEB J. *15*, 1819-1821.

Gläser, R., Harder, J., Lange, H., Bartels, J., Christophers, E., and Schröder, J.M. (2005). Antimicrobial psoriasin (S100A7) protects human skin from Escherichia coli infection. Nat. Immunol. *6*, 57-64.

Gläser,R., Meyer-Hoffert,U., Harder,J., Cordes,J., Wittersheim,M., Kobliakova,J., Folster-Holst,R., Proksch,E., Schröder,J.M., and Schwarz,T. (2008). The Antimicrobial Protein Psoriasin (S100A7) Is Upregulated in Atopic Dermatitis and after Experimental Skin Barrier Disruption. J. Invest Dermatol.

Gombart,A.F., Borregaard,N., and Koeffler,H.P. (2005). Human cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide (CAMP) gene is a direct target of the vitamin D receptor and is strongly up-regulated in myeloid cells by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. FASEB J. *19*, 1067-1077.

Gottsch, J.D., Eisinger, S.W., Liu, S.H., and Scott, A.L. (1999). Calgranulin C has filariacidal and filariastatic activity. Infect. Immun. *67*, 6631-6636.

Gudmundsson,G.H., Agerberth,B., Odeberg,J., Bergman,T., Olsson,B., and Salcedo,R. (1996). The human gene FALL39 and processing of the cathelin precursor to the antibacterial peptide LL-37 in granulocytes. Eur. J. Biochem. *238*, 325-332.

Hahn,Y., Jeong,S., and Lee,B. (2007). Inactivation of MOXD2 and S100A15A by Exon Deletion During Human Evolution. Mol. Biol. Evol.

Harder, J., Bartels, J., Christophers, E., and Schröder, J.M. (1997). A peptide antibiotic from human skin. Nature *387*, 861.

Harder, J., Bartels, J., Christophers, E., and Schröder, J.M. (2001). Isolation and characterization of human beta -defensin-3, a novel human inducible peptide antibiotic. J. Biol. Chem. *276*, 5707-5713.

Harder, J., Meyer-Hoffert, U., Teran, L.M., Schwichtenberg, L., Bartels, J., Maune, S., and Schröder, J.M. (2000). Mucoid Pseudomonas aeruginosa, TNF-alpha, and IL-1beta, but not IL-6, induce human beta-defensin-2 in respiratory epithelia. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. *22*, 714-721.

Harder, J., Meyer-Hoffert, U., Wehkamp, K., Schwichtenberg, L., and Schröder, J.M. (2004). Differential gene induction of human beta-defensins (hBD-1, -2, -3, and -4) in keratinocytes is inhibited by retinoic acid. J. Invest Dermatol. *123*, 522-529.

Harder, J. and Schröder, J.M. (2002). RNase 7, a novel innate immune defense antimicrobial protein of healthy human skin. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 46779-46784.

Harder, J. and Schröder, J.M. (2005a). Antimicrobial peptides in human skin. Chem. Immunol. Allergy *86*, 22-41.

Harder, J. and Schröder, J.M. (2005b). Psoriatic scales: a promising source for the isolation of human skin-derived antimicrobial proteins. J. Leukoc. Biol. 77, 476-486.

Hashimoto, C., Hudson, K.L., and Anderson, K.V. (1988). The Toll gene of Drosophila, required for dorsal-ventral embryonic polarity, appears to encode a transmembrane protein. Cell *52*, 269-279.

Heilborn, J.D., Nilsson, M.F., Kratz, G., Weber, G., Sorensen, O., Borregaard, N., and Stahle-Backdahl, M. (2003). The cathelicidin anti-microbial peptide LL-37 is involved in re-epithelialization of human skin wounds and is lacking in chronic ulcer epithelium. J. Invest Dermatol. *120*, 379-389.

Hein, M., Valore, E.V., Helmig, R.B., Uldbjerg, N., and Ganz, T. (2002). Antimicrobial factors in the cervical mucus plug. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. *187*, 137-144.

Henseler, T. and Christophers, E. (1995). Disease concomitance in psoriasis. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. *32*, 982-986.

Hooper,L.V., Stappenbeck,T.S., Hong,C.V., and Gordon,J.I. (2003). Angiogenins: a new class of microbicidal proteins involved in innate immunity. Nat. Immunol. *4*, 269-273.

Hoover, D.M., Boulegue, C., Yang, D., Oppenheim, J.J., Tucker, K., Lu, W., and Lubkowski, J. (2002). The structure of human macrophage inflammatory protein-3alpha /CCL20. Linking antimicrobial and CC chemokine receptor-6-binding activities with human beta-defensins. J. Biol. Chem. *277*, 37647-37654.

Hoover, D.M., Rajashankar, K.R., Blumenthal, R., Puri, A., Oppenheim, J.J., Chertov, O., and Lubkowski, J. (2000). The structure of human beta-defensin-2 shows evidence of higher order oligomerization. J. Biol. Chem. *275*, 32911-32918.

Huang,Y.C., Lin,Y.M., Chang,T.W., Wu,S.J., Lee,Y.S., Chang,M.D., Chen,C., Wu,S.H., and Liao,Y.D. (2007). The flexible and clustered lysine residues of human ribonuclease 7 are critical for membrane permeability and antimicrobial activity. J. Biol. Chem. *282*, 4626-4633.

Hughes, A.L. (1999). Evolutionary diversification of the mammalian defensins. Cell Mol. Life Sci. *56*, 94-103.

Huh,W.K., Oono,T., Shirafuji,Y., Akiyama,H., Arata,J., Sakaguchi,M., Huh,N.H., and Iwatsuki,K. (2002). Dynamic alteration of human beta-defensin 2 localization from cytoplasm to intercellular space in psoriatic skin. J. Mol. Med. *80*, 678-684.

Ishii,K.J., Koyama,S., Nakagawa,A., Coban,C., and Akira,S. (2008). Host innate immune receptors and beyond: making sense of microbial infections. Cell Host. Microbe *3*, 352-363.

Iyer,S., Holloway,D.E., Kumar,K., Shapiro,R., and Acharya,K.R. (2005). Molecular recognition of human eosinophil-derived neurotoxin (RNase 2) by placental ribonuclease inhibitor. J. Mol. Biol. *347*, 637-655.

Jinquan, T., Vorum, H., Larsen, C.G., Madsen, P., Rasmussen, H.H., Gesser, B., Etzerodt, M., Honore, B., Celis, J.E., and Thestrup-Pedersen, K. (1996). Psoriasin: a novel chemotactic protein. J. Invest Dermatol. *107*, 5-10.

Johnson, R.J., McCoy, J.G., Bingman, C.A., Phillips, G.N., Jr., and Raines, R.T. (2007). Inhibition of human pancreatic ribonuclease by the human ribonuclease inhibitor protein. J. Mol. Biol. *368*, 434-449. Kadowaki, N., Ho, S., Antonenko, S., Malefyt, R.W., Kastelein, R.A., Bazan, F., and Liu, Y.J. (2001). Subsets of human dendritic cell precursors express different toll-like receptors and respond to different microbial antigens. J. Exp. Med. *194*, 863-869.

Kanneganti, T.D., Lamkanfi, M., and Nunez, G. (2007). Intracellular NOD-like receptors in host defense and disease. Immunity. 27, 549-559.

Kawai,K. (2003). Expression of functional toll-like receptors on cultured human epidermal keratinocytes. J. Invest Dermatol. *121*, 217-218.

Kim,J., Ochoa,M.T., Krutzik,S.R., Takeuchi,O., Uematsu,S., Legaspi,A.J., Brightbill,H.D., Holland,D., Cunliffe,W.J., Akira,S., Sieling,P.A., Godowski,P.J., and Modlin,R.L. (2002). Activation of toll-like receptor 2 in acne triggers inflammatory cytokine responses. J. Immunol. *169*, 1535-1541.

Klotman, M.E. and Chang, T.L. (2006). Defensins in innate antiviral immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *6*, 447-456.

Kobayashi,K.S., Chamaillard,M., Ogura,Y., Henegariu,O., Inohara,N., Nunez,G., and Flavell,R.A. (2005). Nod2-dependent regulation of innate and adaptive immunity in the intestinal tract. Science *307*, 731-734.

Kobe,B. and Deisenhofer,J. (1993). Crystal structure of porcine ribonuclease inhibitor, a protein with leucine-rich repeats. Nature *366*, 751-756.

Köllisch,G., Kalali,B.N., Voelcker,V., Wallich,R., Behrendt,H., Ring,J., Bauer,S., Jakob,T., Mempel,M., and Ollert,M. (2005). Various members of the Toll-like receptor family contribute to the innate immune response of human epidermal keratinocytes. Immunology *114*, 531-541.

Kulski, J.K., Lim, C.P., Dunn, D.S., and Bellgard, M. (2003). Genomic and phylogenetic analysis of the S100A7 (Psoriasin) gene duplications within the region of the S100 gene cluster on human chromosome 1q21. J. Mol. Evol. *56*, 397-406.

Kupper, T.S. and Fuhlbrigge, R.C. (2004). Immune surveillance in the skin: mechanisms and clinical consequences. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *4*, 211-222.

Lebre, M.C., van der Aar, A.M., van Baarsen, L., van Capel, T.M., Schuitemaker, J.H., Kapsenberg, M.L., and de Jong, E.C. (2007). Human keratinocytes express functional Tolllike receptor 3, 4, 5, and 9. J. Invest Dermatol. *127*, 331-341.

Lee, D.Y., Yamasaki, K., Rudsil, J., Zouboulis, C.C., Park, G.T., Yang, J.M., and Gallo, R.L. (2008). Sebocytes express functional cathelicidin antimicrobial peptides and can act to kill propionibacterium acnes. J. Invest Dermatol. *128*, 1863-1866.

Lehrer, R.I., Szklarek, D., Barton, A., Ganz, T., Hamann, K.J., and Gleich, G.J. (1989). Antibacterial properties of eosinophil major basic protein and eosinophil cationic protein. J. Immunol. *142*, 4428-4434.

Leland, P.A. and Raines, R.T. (2001). Cancer chemotherapy--ribonucleases to the rescue. Chem. Biol. *8*, 405-413.

Lemaitre,B., Nicolas,E., Michaut,L., Reichhart,J.M., and Hoffmann,J.A. (1996). The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spatzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in Drosophila adults. Cell *86*, 973-983.

Levitz, S.M. (1998). Host-fungal interactions in HIV infection. Res. Immunol. 149, 489-493.

Liu,P.T., Krutzik,S.R., Kim,J., and Modlin,R.L. (2005). Cutting edge: all-trans retinoic acid down-regulates TLR2 expression and function. J. Immunol. *174*, 2467-2470.

Madsen,P., Rasmussen,H.H., Leffers,H., Honore,B., Dejgaard,K., Olsen,E., Kiil,J., Walbum,E., Andersen,A.H., Basse,B., and . (1991). Molecular cloning, occurrence, and expression of a novel partially secreted protein "psoriasin" that is highly up-regulated in psoriatic skin. J. Invest Dermatol. *97*, 701-712.

Maeda, T., Mahara, K., Kitazoe, M., Futami, J., Takidani, A., Kosaka, M., Tada, H., Seno, M., and Yamada, H. (2002). RNase 3 (ECP) is an extraordinarily stable protein among human pancreatic-type RNases. J. Biochem. *132*, 737-742.

Maisetta,G., Batoni,G., Esin,S., Luperini,F., Pardini,M., Bottai,D., Florio,W., Giuca,M.R., Gabriele,M., and Campa,M. (2003). Activity of human beta-defensin 3 alone or combined with other antimicrobial agents against oral bacteria. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. *47*, 3349-3351.

Malm,J., Sorensen,O., Persson,T., Frohm-Nilsson,M., Johansson,B., Bjartell,A., Lilja,H., Stahle-Backdahl,M., Borregaard,N., and Egesten,A. (2000). The human cationic antimicrobial protein (hCAP-18) is expressed in the epithelium of human epididymis, is present in seminal plasma at high concentrations, and is attached to spermatozoa. Infect. Immun. *68*, 4297-4302.

Martinsson,H., Yhr,M., and Enerback,C. (2005). Expression patterns of S100A7 (psoriasin) and S100A9 (calgranulin-B) in keratinocyte differentiation. Exp. Dermatol. *14*, 161-168.

Mempel,M., Voelcker,V., Köllisch,G., Plank,C., Rad,R., Gerhard,M., Schnopp,C., Fraunberger,P., Walli,A.K., Ring,J., Abeck,D., and Ollert,M. (2003). Toll-like receptor expression in human keratinocytes: nuclear factor kappaB controlled gene activation by Staphylococcus aureus is toll-like receptor 2 but not toll-like receptor 4 or platelet activating factor receptor dependent. J. Invest Dermatol. *121*, 1389-1396.

Miller, L.S. and Modlin, R.L. (2007). Toll-like receptors in the skin. Semin. Immunopathol. *29*, 15-26.

Miller,L.S., O'Connell,R.M., Gutierrez,M.A., Pietras,E.M., Shahangian,A., Gross,C.E., Thirumala,A., Cheung,A.L., Cheng,G., and Modlin,R.L. (2006). MyD88 mediates neutrophil recruitment initiated by IL-1R but not TLR2 activation in immunity against Staphylococcus aureus. Immunity. *24*, 79-91.

Miller,L.S., Sorensen,O.E., Liu,P.T., Jalian,H.R., Eshtiaghpour,D., Behmanesh,B.E., Chung,W., Starner,T.D., Kim,J., Sieling,P.A., Ganz,T., and Modlin,R.L. (2005). TGF-alpha regulates TLR expression and function on epidermal keratinocytes. J. Immunol. *174*, 6137-6143.

Monti, D.M., Montesano, G.N., Matousek, J., Esposito, F., and D'Alessio, G. (2007). The cytosolic ribonuclease inhibitor contributes to intracellular redox homeostasis. FEBS Lett. *581*, 930-934.

Murakami,M., Ohtake,T., Dorschner,R.A., Schittek,B., Garbe,C., and Gallo,R.L. (2002). Cathelicidin anti-microbial peptide expression in sweat, an innate defense system for the skin. J. Invest Dermatol. *119*, 1090-1095.

Nagy,I., Pivarcsi,A., Koreck,A., Szell,M., Urban,E., and Kemeny,L. (2005). Distinct strains of Propionibacterium acnes induce selective human beta-defensin-2 and interleukin-8 expression in human keratinocytes through toll-like receptors. J. Invest Dermatol. *124*, 931-938.

Nizet,V., Ohtake,T., Lauth,X., Trowbridge,J., Rudisill,J., Dorschner,R.A., Pestonjamasp,V., Piraino,J., Huttner,K., and Gallo,R.L. (2001). Innate antimicrobial peptide protects the skin from invasive bacterial infection. Nature *414*, 454-457.

Ogawa,H., Miyazaki,H., and Kimura,M. (1971). Isolation and characterization of human skin lysozyme. J. Invest Dermatol. *57*, 111-116.

Ong,P.Y., Ohtake,T., Brandt,C., Strickland,I., Boguniewicz,M., Ganz,T., Gallo,R.L., and Leung,D.Y. (2002). Endogenous antimicrobial peptides and skin infections in atopic dermatitis. N. Engl. J. Med. *347*, 1151-1160.

Oppenheim, J.J., Biragyn, A., Kwak, L.W., and Yang, D. (2003). Roles of antimicrobial peptides such as defensins in innate and adaptive immunity. Ann. Rheum. Dis. *62 Suppl 2*, ii17-ii21.

Oren,A., Ganz,T., Liu,L., and Meerloo,T. (2003). In human epidermis, beta-defensin 2 is packaged in lamellar bodies. Exp. Mol. Pathol. *74*, 180-182.

Papageorgiou, A.C., Shapiro, R., and Acharya, K.R. (1997). Molecular recognition of human angiogenin by placental ribonuclease inhibitor--an X-ray crystallographic study at 2.0 A resolution. EMBO J. *16*, 5162-5177.

Papini,M., Simonetti,S., Franceschini,S., Scaringi,L., and Binazzi,M. (1982). Lysozyme distribution in healthy human skin. Arch. Dermatol. Res. *272*, 167-170.

Pivarcsi,A., Bodai,L., Rethi,B., Kenderessy-Szabo,A., Koreck,A., Szell,M., Beer,Z., Bata-Csorgoo,Z., Magocsi,M., Rajnavolgyi,E., Dobozy,A., and Kemeny,L. (2003). Expression and function of Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in human keratinocytes. Int. Immunol. *15*, 721-730.

Rendl,M., Mayer,C., Weninger,W., and Tschachler,E. (2001). Topically applied lactic acid increases spontaneous secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor by human reconstructed epidermis. Br. J. Dermatol. *145*, 3-9.

Rieg,S., Garbe,C., Sauer,B., Kalbacher,H., and Schittek,B. (2004). Dermcidin is constitutively produced by eccrine sweat glands and is not induced in epidermal cells under inflammatory skin conditions. Br. J. Dermatol. *151*, 534-539.

Rieg,S., Steffen,H., Seeber,S., Humeny,A., Kalbacher,H., Dietz,K., Garbe,C., and Schittek,B. (2005). Deficiency of dermcidin-derived antimicrobial peptides in sweat of

patients with atopic dermatitis correlates with an impaired innate defense of human skin in vivo. J. Immunol. *174*, 8003-8010.

Rudolph,B., Podschun,R., Sahly,H., Schubert,S., Schröder,J.M., and Harder,J. (2006). Identification of RNase 8 as a novel human antimicrobial protein. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. *50*, 3194-3196.

Sahl,H.G., Pag,U., Bonness,S., Wagner,S., Antcheva,N., and Tossi,A. (2005). Mammalian defensins: structures and mechanism of antibiotic activity. J. Leukoc. Biol. 77, 466-475.

Sato,A., Linehan,M.M., and Iwasaki,A. (2006). Dual recognition of herpes simplex viruses by TLR2 and TLR9 in dendritic cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *103*, 17343-17348.

Schittek,B., Hipfel,R., Sauer,B., Bauer,J., Kalbacher,H., Stevanovic,S., Schirle,M., Schroeder,K., Blin,N., Meier,F., Rassner,G., and Garbe,C. (2001). Dermcidin: a novel human antibiotic peptide secreted by sweat glands. Nat. Immunol. *2*, 1133-1137.

Schröder, J.M. and Harder, J. (1999). Human beta-defensin-2. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 31, 645-651.

Schröder, J.M. and Harder, J. (2006). Antimicrobial skin peptides and proteins. Cell Mol. Life Sci. *63*, 469-486.

Schröder,N.W., Morath,S., Alexander,C., Hamann,L., Hartung,T., Zahringer,U., Gobel,U.B., Weber,J.R., and Schumann,R.R. (2003). Lipoteichoic acid (LTA) of Streptococcus pneumoniae and Staphylococcus aureus activates immune cells via Toll-like receptor (TLR)-2, lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (LBP), and CD14, whereas TLR-4 and MD-2 are not involved. J. Biol. Chem. *278*, 15587-15594.

Shapiro,R., Fett,J.W., Strydom,D.J., and Vallee,B.L. (1986). Isolation and characterization of a human colon carcinoma-secreted enzyme with pancreatic ribonuclease-like activity. Biochemistry *25*, 7255-7264.

Shapiro, R. and Vallee, B.L. (1987). Human placental ribonuclease inhibitor abolishes both angiogenic and ribonucleolytic activities of angiogenin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *84*, 2238-2241.

Singh,P.K., Jia,H.P., Wiles,K., Hesselberth,J., Liu,L., Conway,B.A., Greenberg,E.P., Valore,E.V., Welsh,M.J., Ganz,T., Tack,B.F., and McCray,P.B., Jr. (1998). Production of beta-defensins by human airway epithelia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *95*, 14961-14966.

Smith,J.J., Travis,S.M., Greenberg,E.P., and Welsh,M.J. (1996). Cystic fibrosis airway epithelia fail to kill bacteria because of abnormal airway surface fluid. Cell *85*, 229-236.

Sorensen, O.E., Cowland, J.B., Theilgaard-Monch, K., Liu, L., Ganz, T., and Borregaard, N. (2003). Wound healing and expression of antimicrobial peptides/polypeptides in human keratinocytes, a consequence of common growth factors. J. Immunol. *170*, 5583-5589.

Sorensen, O.E., Follin, P., Johnsen, A.H., Calafat, J., Tjabringa, G.S., Hiemstra, P.S., and Borregaard, N. (2001). Human cathelicidin, hCAP-18, is processed to the antimicrobial peptide LL-37 by extracellular cleavage with proteinase 3. Blood *97*, 3951-3959.

Tada,H., Nemoto,E., Shimauchi,H., Watanabe,T., Mikami,T., Matsumoto,T., Ohno,N., Tamura,H., Shibata,K., Akashi,S., Miyake,K., Sugawara,S., and Takada,H. (2002). Saccharomyces cerevisiae- and Candida albicans-derived mannan induced production of tumor necrosis factor alpha by human monocytes in a CD14- and Toll-like receptor 4dependent manner. Microbiol. Immunol. *46*, 503-512.

Takeuchi,O., Hoshino,K., Kawai,T., Sanjo,H., Takada,H., Ogawa,T., Takeda,K., and Akira,S. (1999). Differential roles of TLR2 and TLR4 in recognition of gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial cell wall components. Immunity. *11*, 443-451.

Territo, M.C., Ganz, T., Selsted, M.E., and Lehrer, R. (1989). Monocyte-chemotactic activity of defensins from human neutrophils. J. Clin. Invest *84*, 2017-2020.

Tomita,T., Hitomi,S., Nagase,T., Matsui,H., Matsuse,T., Kimura,S., and Ouchi,Y. (2000). Effect of ions on antibacterial activity of human beta defensin 2. Microbiol. Immunol. *44*, 749-754.

Turner, J., Cho, Y., Dinh, N.N., Waring, A.J., and Lehrer, R.I. (1998). Activities of LL-37, a cathelin-associated antimicrobial peptide of human neutrophils. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. *42*, 2206-2214.

Uematsu,S., Jang,M.H., Chevrier,N., Guo,Z., Kumagai,Y., Yamamoto,M., Kato,H., Sougawa,N., Matsui,H., Kuwata,H., Hemmi,H., Coban,C., Kawai,T., Ishii,K.J., Takeuchi,O., Miyasaka,M., Takeda,K., and Akira,S. (2006). Detection of pathogenic intestinal bacteria by Toll-like receptor 5 on intestinal CD11c+ lamina propria cells. Nat. Immunol. *7*, 868-874.

Valore, E.V., Park, C.H., Quayle, A.J., Wiles, K.R., McCray, P.B., Jr., and Ganz, T. (1998). Human beta-defensin-1: an antimicrobial peptide of urogenital tissues. J. Clin. Invest *101*, 1633-1642.

Voss,E., Wehkamp,J., Wehkamp,K., Stange,E.F., Schröder,J.M., and Harder,J. (2006). NOD2/CARD15 mediates induction of the antimicrobial peptide human beta-defensin-2. J. Biol. Chem. *281*, 2005-2011.

Wang, J.P., Kurt-Jones, E.A., Shin, O.S., Manchak, M.D., Levin, M.J., and Finberg, R.W. (2005). Varicella-zoster virus activates inflammatory cytokines in human monocytes and macrophages via Toll-like receptor 2. J. Virol. *79*, 12658-12666.

Wang,T.T., Nestel,F.P., Bourdeau,V., Nagai,Y., Wang,Q., Liao,J., Tavera-Mendoza,L., Lin,R., Hanrahan,J.W., Mader,S., and White,J.H. (2004). Cutting edge: 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 is a direct inducer of antimicrobial peptide gene expression. J. Immunol. *173*, 2909-2912.

Weber,G., Heilborn,J.D., Chamorro Jimenez,C.I., Hammarsjo,A., Torma,H., and Stahle,M. (2005). Vitamin D induces the antimicrobial protein hCAP18 in human skin. J. Invest Dermatol. *124*, 1080-1082.

Wolf,R., Howard,O.M., Dong,H.F., Voscopoulos,C., Boeshans,K., Winston,J., Divi,R., Gunsior,M., Goldsmith,P., Ahvazi,B., Chavakis,T., Oppenheim,J.J., and Yuspa,S.H. (2008). Chemotactic activity of S100A7 (Psoriasin) is mediated by the receptor for advanced glycation end products and potentiates inflammation with highly homologous but functionally distinct S100A15. J. Immunol. *181*, 1499-1506.

Wolf,R., Lewerenz,V., Buchau,A.S., Walz,M., and Ruzicka,T. (2007). Human S100A15 splice variants are differentially expressed in inflammatory skin diseases and regulated through Th1 cytokines and calcium. Exp. Dermatol. *16*, 685-691.

Yamasaki,K., Schauber,J., Coda,A., Lin,H., Dorschner,R.A., Schechter,N.M., Bonnart,C., Descargues,P., Hovnanian,A., and Gallo,R.L. (2006). Kallikrein-mediated proteolysis regulates the antimicrobial effects of cathelicidins in skin. FASEB J. *20*, 2068-2080.

Yang, D., Biragyn, A., Hoover, D.M., Lubkowski, J., and Oppenheim, J.J. (2004). Multiple roles of antimicrobial defensins, cathelicidins, and eosinophil-derived neurotoxin in host defense. Annu. Rev. Immunol. *22*, 181-215.

Yang, D., Biragyn, A., Kwak, L.W., and Oppenheim, J.J. (2002). Mammalian defensins in immunity: more than just microbicidal. Trends Immunol. *23*, 291-296.

Yang,D., Chertov,O., Bykovskaia,S.N., Chen,Q., Buffo,M.J., Shogan,J., Anderson,M., Schröder,J.M., Wang,J.M., Howard,O.M., and Oppenheim,J.J. (1999a). Beta-defensins: linking innate and adaptive immunity through dendritic and T cell CCR6. Science *286*, 525-528.

Yang, D., Chertov, O., and Oppenheim, J.J. (2001). Participation of mammalian defensins and cathelicidins in anti-microbial immunity: receptors and activities of human defensins and cathelicidin (LL-37). J. Leukoc. Biol. *69*, 691-697.

Yang, D., Howard, O.M., Chen, Q., and Oppenheim, J.J. (1999b). Cutting edge: immature dendritic cells generated from monocytes in the presence of TGF-beta 1 express functional C-C chemokine receptor 6. J. Immunol. *163*, 1737-1741.

Zaiou, M. and Gallo, R.L. (2002). Cathelicidins, essential gene-encoded mammalian antibiotics. J. Mol. Med. *80*, 549-561.

Zaiou, M., Nizet, V., and Gallo, R.L. (2003). Antimicrobial and protease inhibitory functions of the human cathelicidin (hCAP18/LL-37) prosequence. J. Invest Dermatol. *120*, 810-816.

Zanetti, M. (2005). The role of cathelicidins in the innate host defenses of mammals. Curr. Issues Mol. Biol. 7, 179-196.

Zasloff,M. (1987). Magainins, a class of antimicrobial peptides from Xenopus skin: isolation, characterization of two active forms, and partial cDNA sequence of a precursor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A *84*, 5449-5453.

7. Appendix

7.1 Abstract in German (Kurzfassung)

Antimikrobielle Peptide sind ein wichtiger Teil des angeborenen Immunensystems der Haut. Epidermale Keratinozyten exprimieren eine Vielzahl verschiedener antimikrobielle Peptide, die eine schützende Barriere zu eindringenden Mikroorganismen bilden. Es wurde gezeigt, dass speziell das antimikrobielle Peptide S100A7c (Psoriasin) höchst effektiv gegen den humanpathogenen Keim Escherichia coli (E. coli) wirkt. Der genaue Mechanismus, der für die Regulation dieses antimikrobiellen Peptids in epidermalen Keratinozyten verantwortlich ist, war jedoch bis dato unklar. Deshalb untersuchten wir den Einfluss von verschiedenen mikrobiellen Bestandteilen auf die Expression von S100A7c. Wir konnten nachweisen, dass ausschließlich Flagellin, ein Ligand für Toll-like Rezeptor (TLR) 5, die Expression von S100A7c in primären humanen Keratinozyten stark induzierte, während alle weiteren TLR-Liganden keine Wirkung zeigten. Weiters konnten wir zeigen, dass hitzeinaktivierte Kulturüberstände von E. coli die mRNA- und Proteinproduktion von S100A7c stark induzierten. Im Gegensatz dazu hatte ein flagellindefizienter E. coli Stamm (AFliC) keine induzierende Wirkung. Nun wollten wir untersuchen, ob auch hier die Signalweiterleitung über den TLR5 erfolgt. Durch Transfektion von TLR5 spezifischen siRNAs konnte die Expression dieses Rezeptors in Keratinozyten nahezu vollständig unterdrückt werden. Nach darauffolgender Stimulation mit Flagellin oder hitzeinaktivierte Kulturüberstände von E. coli, konnten wir keine Induktion von S100A7c mehr feststellen. Wir konnten daher durch diese Serie von Experimenten nachweisen, dass das antimikrobielle Peptid S100A7c in primären humanen Keratinozyten über TLR5 Aktivierung induziert wird, und dass Flagellin der bakterielle Bestandteil ist, der für diese Induktion notwendig ist.

Ein weiteres antimikrobielles Peptid, das von humanen Keratinozyten produziert wird ist RNase 7. Diese RNase trägt nicht nur zur Oberflächenribonukleasetätigkeit der menschlichen Haut bei, sondern ist vielmehr auch ein wichtiger Faktor für die antimikrobielle Abwehr an der Hautoberfläche. Mittels RT-PCR konnten wir zeigen, dass zusätzlich zu RNase 7, auch andere RNasen (RNasen 1, 4 und 5) sowie ein RNase-Inhibitor (RI) von humanen Keratinozyten produziert werden. RNase-Inhibitoren sind endogene Proteine, die die Aktivität von RNasen blockieren können. *In vitro* Experimente zeigten, dass dieser RI, sowohl die Ribonukleaseaktivität von Stratum corneum (SC) RNasen, als auch die antibakterielle Wirkung von RNase 7 und RNase 5 unterdrücken konnte.

In vivo konnten wir eine starke Expression von RI in den granulären Schichten, jedoch nicht in der verhornten Schicht der Epidermis nachweisen. Weiters konnten wir zeigen, dass SC Extrakte in der Lage waren rekombinant hergestellten RI abzubauen. Dies konnte durch Zugabe von Aprotinin, welches die Aktivität von Serinproteasen inhibiert, verhindert werden. Diese Ergebnisse deuten stark auf das Bestehen physiologischer Mechanismen zum Abbau von RI im SC hin, wodurch sowohl die Ribonukleaseaktivität als auch die antimikrobielle Aktivität von RNasen an der Hautoberfläche gewährleistet werden kann. Zusammengefasst, konnten wir mit diesen Studien neue Einblicke in die Wirkungsmechanismen und Regulation von antimikrobiellen Peptiden in der menschlichen Haut geben. Weiters konnten wir einen neuen wichtigen Aspekt der proteolytischen Aktivität von SC in der Haut demonstrieren.

7.2 Abbreviations

CCL	C-C chemokine ligand
CF	Cystic fibrosis
CFU	colony-forming units
CRAMP	cathelicidin-related antimicrobial peptide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ECP	eosinophil cationic protein
EDN	eosinophil-derived neurotoxin
EDTA	Ethylendiamintetraaceticacid
GAS	group A Streptococcus
hBD	human β-defensins
hCAP-18	human cationic antimicrobial protein with a molecular size of 18 kDa
HNP	human neutrophil peptides
IFN	interferon
IL	interleukin
kDa	kilo Dalton
LD ₉₀	lethal dose that achieves a CFU reduction of 90%
LPS	lipopolysaccaride
LRR	leucine-rich repeat
LTA	lipoteichoic acid
MDP	muramyl dipeptide
mRNA	messenger RNA
NLR	(NOD)-like receptor
NOD	nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain
PAMP	pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PMA	phorbol-myristate-acetate

PRR	pattern recognition receptors
RI	ribonuclease inhibitor
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNase	ribonuclease
SC	stratum corneum
siRNA	small interference RNA
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	tumour necrosis factor
VDR	vitamin D receptor
VDRE	vitamin D response element
ΔFliC	flagellin-deficient

7.3 Curriculum vitae (CV)

Personal Details

First Name: Arby Last Name: Abtin Date of birth: 27/9/1976 Place of birth: Tehran/IRAN Nationality: Iranian Address: Friesgasse 7/17, 1150 Vienna, Austria E-mail Address: arby.abtin@meduniwien.ac.at arby_abtin@yahoo.de

Academic trainings

- 2004-present Ph.D. (Genetics and Microbiology) University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria. Thesis Title: Molecular interactions of human skin and pathogenic microorganisms.
- 2000-2003 M.Sc. (Microbiology) Azad University, Tehran, Iran. Thesis Title: Role of UV-B irradiation on HSP70 gene up-regulation in Trichophyton rubrum
- 1995-2000 B.Sc. (Microbiology) Azad University, Tehran, Iran.

List of publications

<u>Abtin A</u>, Eckhart L, Mildner M, Gruber F, Schröder JM, Tschachler E (2008). **Flagellin is the principal inducer of the antimicrobial peptide S100A7c (psoriasin) in human epidermal keratinocytes exposed to Escherichia coli.** *FASEB J* 22: 2168-2176.

Eckhart,L., Schmidt,M., Mildner,M., Mlitz,V., <u>Abtin,A</u>., Ballaun,C., Fischer,H., Mrass,P., and Tschachler,E. (2008). **Histidase expression in human epidermal keratinocytes: regulation by differentiation status and all-trans retinoic acid.** *J Dermatol Sci* 50, 209-215. <u>Abtin A</u>, Eckhart L, Mildner M, Ghannadan M, Harder J, Schröder JM, Tschachler E. **Degradation by stratum corneum proteases prevents endogenous RNase inhibitor from blocking antimicrobial activities of RNase 5 and RNase 7.** Accepted for publication *J Invest Dermatol* (2009).

<u>Abtin A</u>, Kudela P, Mayr UB, Koller V, Mildner M, Tschachler E, Lubitz W. **Bacterial ghosts elicit innate immune responses by epithelial cells.** Manuscript in preparation.